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Foreword

The year 1950 marks the fiftieth anniversary of the outbreak of the Korean
War. In order to commemorate the events and their impact, the Air Force
History and Museums Program proudly reprints Robert Frank Futrell’s authori-
tative work, The United States Air Force in Korea, 1950-1953. In spite of the
limitations imposed by the political aspects of the war, as it fit into its Cold War
niche, the Air Force provided the men, the means, and the effectively powerful
dimension of air power.

The newly-independent Air Force found itself sorely tested for this conflict
without precedent, a war of limited aims, and like the rest of the armed services
was not prepared for the conflict. Yet, with almost no warning, the Air Force
effectively injected itself into the war in its first week, providing transportation,
evacuation, intelligence, but most importantly the means to delay the rapid
advance of the North Korean forces. Its unparalleled ability to deliver crushing
bombloads on target, time after time, allowed allied forces the time to construct
a defensive perimeter, and to prepare for a counter-attack.
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For three years, American air power contributed overwhelming force to the
war effort, by controlling airspace over the battlefield with an overwhelmingly
effective air superiority force, by providing effective close air support to ground
force operations, and by providing transportation for critical war materiel.

Futrell describes all these operations with a clarity and a balance that have
since become a model for official military history. Even better, he has analyzed
the operations, interpreting their significance to the course of the conflict and
their importance in the application of air power in modern warfare.

Richard P. Hallion
Air Force Historian



The Author

Robert Frank Futrell was a senior historian at the Albert F Simpson Histori-
cal Research Center. He holds bachelor of arts and master of arts degrees from
the University of Mississippi and a PhD from Vanderbilt University (1950). During
World War II he served as historical officer of the AAF Tactical Center, Orlando,
Florida, and assistant historical officer of Headquarters Far East Air Forces in the
Philippines. After World War II, Dr. Futrell joined the new Army Air Forces/
United States Air Force Historical Office, which was moved from Washington,
D.C. to the Air University, Maxwell AFB, Alabama, in 1949. At the Air Univer-
sity he was professor of military history and became emeritus professor at his
retirement from the U.S. Civil Service in 1974. He also retired as a lieutenant
colonel from the Air Force Reserve. He is a co-author of The Army Air Forces
in World War II and the author of many air history books and articles including
Ideas, Concepts, Doctrine: A History of Basic Thinking in the United States Air
Force, 1907-1964. He is currently on an assignment in the Air University Re-
search Institute preparing an extension of Ideas, Concepts, Doctrine from 1964
to the near present.



Preface

“It is important,” stated Brig. Gen. Laurence S. Kuter, Deputy Chief of Air
Staff, Army Air Forces, on 19 July 1942, “that our history be recorded while it is
hot and that personnel be selected and an agency set up for a clear historian’s job
without axe to grind or defense to prepare.”! Since its inception, the historical
program of the Army Air Forces and of the United States Air Force has ever
reflected the spirit of General Kuter’s charge in its research and publications.
For its part, the United States Air Force has loyally supported the independent
findings of the USAF Historical Division. This volume on Korea was approved
by the United States Air Force without a suggestion for changing so much as a
single word.

Utilizing the fullest availability of sources in research for this volume on the
USAF in Korea, the author has sought to record the story of the air war as it
was—or as it appeared to informed participants—without yielding very often to
speculations of what might have been if different decisions had been made or the
facts had somehow been changed. Air Force failings have been stressed fully as
much as accomplishments, for failures (and the reasons for them) must be evalu-
ated if the Air Force is to progress. In this record of Air Force experience in
Korea there was much that was heroic and there were other events that were
unpleasant, but a military historian must freely record the mistakes and contro-
versies if a reader or a student of military history is to understand the full
meanings of military accomplishments and failures.

In preparing this history, the author has necessarily included a great amount
of material which likely will be of limited interest to a general reader but which
may be significant to the military planner and student. There was good reason
for this, for at the end of the Korean war General O. P Weyland’s official report
noted that: *“An astounding facet of the Korean war was the number of old les-
sons that had to be relearned....It appears that these lessons either were forgotten
or were never documented—or if documented, were never disseminated.”? A
major purpose of this volume is to “document” and “disseminate” the lessons
learned by Air Force men in the peculiar circumstances of the limited war in
Korea.

Although this history is primarily the institutional story of the United States
Air Force and more particularly of the Far East Air Forces in Korea, it also rep-
resents an account of the employment of United Nations Command airpower in
Korea. Because of its predominant strength, the Far East Air Forces was the
main component of United Nations Command airpower, but U.S. Marine and
Navy airmen, as well as airmen from other participating United Nations coun-
tries, made substantial contributions to the air victory in Korea. The activities of
the Marine, Navy, and other United Nations air units are sketched in order to
present the composite effect of United Nations airpower, but the operations of
these forces are not discussed in as great detail as are those of the Far East Air
Forces. Since the first two years of the Korean war were fought in accordance
with a surface strategy, much attention has necessarily been given to the activities
of the United Nations ground forces. The reader who desires to be fully informed

'Routing and Record Sheet, Brig. Gen. L. S. Kuter, Dep. CofAS, AAF to Director of Organizational Planning
AAF 19 July 1942.
‘FEAF Report on the Korean War, 26 March 1954, I, 130.
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concerning the war in Korea ought not to be satisfied merely to read this history;
he must also study the Army, Navy, and Marine service histories of the Korean
war.

From the viewpoint of an airpower historian, the history of air operations in
Korea naturally groups itself into the operations which gained and maintained
friendly control of the air, those which reduced Communist war capabilities, those
which destroyed the force in being and the mobility of the Red armies, and those
which supported friendly ground troops in battle. All of these air actions hap-
pened simultaneously, but each was designed to produce a different effect upon
the enemy. Not until late in the Korean war, however, did the United Nations
Command accept an air strategy, and most of this history therefore seeks to fol-
low the historical course of events and chronologically to relate air operations to
the surface strategy which prevailed. Although this history is mainly one of insti-
tutions at war, the author has recognized that all institutions are made by the men
who compose them. The history, therefore, freely records personal exploits, many
in the early days of the Korean war when brave men fought with what they had
and fewer in the latter years of the hostilities when the air forces were employed
as massed striking forces which inevitably subordinated personality to the accom-
plishment of the air mission.

A degree of calculated risk is involved in the preparation of any history of
recent events, and this history—written at Maxwell Air Force Base, Alabama, in
the months between March 1957 and November 1958—is no exception. The pass-
ing of time and the completion of definitive Army and Navy service histories of
the Korean war will undoubtedly provide additional historical perspective which
was not available to the author of this USAF history. The exigencies of the Cold
War have also denied much desirable information about the enemy’s plans and
operations, but one may doubt that the Communists will ever provide any accu-
rate and unbiased narrative of their campaigns in Korea. The development of nu-
clear missiles and the technological developments in an age of aerospace may well
cause modifications of some of the lessons of Korea; and yet in an international
nuclear missile stalemate the only type of hostilities to be encountered might well
be those of a limited scope to which the Korean experience might be particularly
applicable. This history’s purpose, however, is to record the story of airpower in
Korea—not to predict its role in future national emergencies.

For their assistance in the preparation of this narrative of USAF experience
in Korea, the author must acknowledge gratitude to many persons. So much of
their labor is represented in this volume that it is appropriate to thank the war-
time personnel of the various historical offices of the Far East Air Forces. At
FEAF under the successive direction of Majors Charles T. A. Paul and Wayne E.
Scrivener and of Chief Historians Ward D. Smith (for a short time) and Oliver L.
Hobson, the following persons were variously or continuously assigned to histori-
cal duty: MSgt. Dunlap Castle, Dr. Lula M. Garrett, MSgt. R. L. Hitchcock, Mr.
James T. Kenney, Mrs. Marjorie Matthews, Miss Mabel Mangum, SSgt. J. L.
Rhoades, MSgt. S. R. Spencer, TSgt. W. J. Wallrich, and TSgt. G. J. Weber.
Under the field conditions in Korea, historical personnel of the Fifth Air Force
changed rapidly. The Fifth Air Force’s historical officers of the war period
included Lt. John J. Costello, Lt. Ellery E. Swank, Maj. Boardman C. Reed,
Maj. Edward R. Kandell, Lt. H. L. Addelson, Maj. Edgar A. Holt, and Lt. Clyde



R. Littlefield, while SSgt. J. D. Brandt, TSgt. R. C. Eiland, Mr. Harvey L.
Horwich, Mr. Arthur C. O’Neil, Mr. Ernest M. Maygarden, Mr. Jacob Van
Staaveren, and MSgt. John E Whalen were at times assigned in historical
functions. An apparently incomplete list of the historical personnel of the FEAF
Bomber Command (Provisional) includes Col. Philip H. Best, Mr. G. F. Blewett,
and MSgt. James B. Valla. Historical officers of the FEAF Combat Cargo
Command (Provisional) and the 315th Air Division (Combat Cargo) were Col.
Charles J. Long III, Maj. Edward M. Rosentreter, Capt. Kenneth E. Grine,

Maj. James L. Greene, Maj. Robert L. Lovelace, Capt. Zenobia Skipworth, and
Maj. Andrew Di Antonio, while Lewis W, Bealer, William D. Cox, Florence S.
Richards, Dorothy J. Vestecka, and Patricia A. Visscher contributed to the
histories. The task of preparing the span of histories of the Far East Air Materiel
Command and the Far East Air Logistics Force fell to Theodore A. Faulkner,
Lawrence E Kenney, Stuart P. Griffin, Mrs. Barbara A. Shoup, Lt. Francis J.
Ash, Miss Eva Mahony, Lt. Howard A. Smith, Jr., A2C J. R. Reznichek, and
Maj. Joel E. Cocks. On Okinawa, Captains R. G. Bergman and H. E. Fansler, Lt.
Roy L. Goodale, Mr. Wayne G. Peterson, Mrs. Alice Harvey, MSgt. James D.
Kinder, and SSgt. Carl C. Combs prepared the wartime histories of the Twentieth
Air Force. Impressive though it is, this list of wartime historical personnel leaves
nameless the many wing, group, squadron, and unit historians who wrote the
histories of their organizations, often as an additional duty. Without the historical
data prepared by these nameless historians no USAF history of Korean opera-
tions could have been written.

The preparation of a history of the USAF in Korea was conceived in 1950 by
Col. Wilfred J. Paul, Director of the Research Studies Institute, and the project
was supported by the successive directors of the institute: Brig. Gen. Clinton W,
Davies, Col. Curtis D. Sluman, Col. Garth C. Cobb, and Brig. Gen. William J.
Clinch. Dr. Albert E Simpson, the USAF Historian, gave assistance to the author
at every step, and Mr. Joseph W. Angell, Jr., Assistant Chief of the USAF
Historical Division ensured that the field historical program provided requisite
data for the history. In the autumn of 1950 Messrs. P Alan-Bliss and Thomas J.
Mayock of the USAF Directorate of Intelligence assisted the initial research
effort by assiduous note-taking in headquarters files in Washington. In Tokyo, in
1950, Dr. Gordon W. Prange, then the Far East Command Historian, provided
information to the author. More recently, Professor James A. Field, Jr., of
Swarthmore College, who is writing the Navy’s history of the Korean war,
suggested valuable source material for research, and Mr. Wilbur W. Hoare, Jr.,
Historian of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, ensured that top-level policy information
was made available. The maps (which were originally used in classified USAF
historical studies) were drawn by Mr. Z. E Shelton. Under the supervision of Mr.
Jack Turner, Mrs. Lucy Meek of the Graphics Branch, Air University Library,
prepared the special map of Korea’s transportation routes. Within the USAF
Historical Division, Miss Sara E. Venable, Mrs. Sally M. Watkins, Mrs. Margie
McCardel, and Mrs. Dorothy Turner shared the laborious task of typing the
manuscript. Maj. James E Sunderman, Chief of the USAF Book Program,
Secretary of Air Force Information Office, richly deserves the utmost apprecia-
tion for shepherding the manuscript through many reviewing channels and for
arranging publication of the original edition.



The author gratefully acknowledges the assistance of Mr. Lawrence J.
Paszek, Senior Editor, Office of Air Force History, Mary E Loughlin, and
Vanessa D. Allen, editors in the same office, for their concepts in laying out
and designing the revised edition, selecting the photography, and guiding the
volume through various stages of publication. Further appreciation is extended
to Mr. Bruce Plumb, Typography and Design Division of the U.S. Government
Printing Office, for his role in the layout and design of this work.

Finally, the author acknowledges the following authorizations to quote from
copyright material: To Mr. Beverly Smith, Jr., for information in “Why We Went
to War in Korea,” in The Saturday Evening Post, 10 November 1951. To Farrar,
Straus and Cudahy, Inc., for permission to quote from The General and the
President, and The Future of American Foreign Policy, by Richard H. Rovere
and Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr., copyright, 1951, by the authors. To the Viking
Press, Inc., for quotations from William E Dean, General Dean’s Story. To the
U.S. Naval Institute for authority to quote and cite Malcolm W. Cagle and Frank
A. Manson, The Sea War in Korea, copyright, 1957, by the U.S. Naval Institute.
To Harper & Brothers for several quotations from Mark W. Clark, From the
Danube to the Yalu. To the Air Force Association for authority to quote from
several articles which. were published in Air Force.

Many persons have contributed information toward the writing of this history,
and it has been officially reviewed by the Department of State, the Department of
Defense, the Joint Chiefs of Staff, the United States Air Force, and the USAF
Tactical Air Command. The author nevertheless assumes the responsibility for
such errors of fact or interpretation as may remain in the volume. Like other
USAF historical studies, this history is subject to revision, and additional
information or suggestions for correction will be welcomed.

Air University
ROBERT FRANK FUTRELL
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1. The First Six Days of Communist Aggression

1. They Called It ““FEAF”’

To the officers and airmen of the
United States who served it, the Far
East Air Forces was in June 1950 a
distinguished and venerable command.
True, the Far East Air Forces, or
“FEAF” as it was always called (the
initials pronounced as a word which
rhymed with “leaf™), was only six
years old, but in these few years the
achievement of the command had
become a legend in the new United
States Air Force, where tradition was
short and measured in service against
the nation’s enemies rather than in the
passing of uneventful calendar years.

The gold-and-blue shoulder patch
worn by the men of FEAF revealed a
brief history of the command. At the
center of a diamond of blue were the
typical Air Force wings and star, but
above the Air Force star was the
Philippine Sun and below it were the
five stars of the Southern Cross, as
familiar a constellation to the people
“down under” as the North Star is to
those of the Northern Hemisphere. The
Southern Cross denoted FEAF’s
birthplace. Needing a theater air
headquarters to control American air
forces in the Southwest Pacific Area
theater of military operations, General
George C. Kenney had activated the
Far East Air Forces at Brisbane,
Australia, on 15 June 1944. The
Philippine Sun portrayed the past and
predicted the future. In 1941 an old Far
East Air Force had been driven from
the Philippines by Japanese invaders,

and the new Far East Air Forces meant
to avenge this national humiliation.

The prophecy of the FEAF insignia
had been fulfilled. As American air,
ground, and naval power relentlessly
drove the Japanese back whence they
had come, FEAF’s command post
moved always closer toward its objec-
tive: first to the Netherlands New
Guinea and the village of Hollandia,
then to the rain and mud of Tacloban
town on Leyte Island in the central
Philippines, then to the war-torn old
American post at Fort McKinley near
Manila on Luzon, the principal island
of the Philippine archipelago. Had the
Japanese not surrendered when they
did, FEAF headquarters would have
moved northward to Okinawa, where it
would have directed air operations in
an American invasion of the Japanese
home islands. But the Japanese had
suffered enough and surrendered, and
FEAF moved its command post in
September 1945 to Tokyo. Here in the
heart of the Japanese capital, at the
Meiji building, an eight-story “skyscra-
per’” which overlooked-the heavily
forested grounds of Emperor Hirohito’s
palace, FEAF directed the air phase of
the Allied occupation of Japan.*

The passing of time had brought
changes in FEAF’s mission—that
statement of assigned duties which
governs the allocations of forces, the
tables of equipment, the training of
personnel, and, in essence, the very
life of a military command. As long as

*During the months of United States military readjustment following Japan’s defeat, the Far East Air Forces
for a time had a new name and expanded duties. On 6 December 1945 FEAF was redesignated as the Pacific Air
Command United States Army (PACUSA) and commanded all Army Air Forces organizations in the Pacific. With
the circumscription of the Far East Command’s area of authority, however, PACUSA was redesignated as the Far

East Air Forces on 1 January 1947.



the Japanese had fought, FEAF had
been recognized as the major air
element of General of the Army
Douglas MacArthur’s Southwest Pacific
Area Theater, and it had been ex-
pected, in mutually-supporting co-
equality with Army and Navy forces,
to wage an aggressive war against
Japan. In June 1950 General Mac-
Arthur was still the American theater
commander in the Far East, but his
command was now designated the U.S.
Far East Command (FEC). The
primary mission of the Far East
Command was the defense of its area
of operations, a geographical region
including Japan, the Ryukyus, the
Marianas, and American bases in the
Philippines. As the United States Air
Force (USAF) component of the Far
East Command, FEAF’s primary and
only principal mission was to maintain
an active air defense of the FEC
theater of operations. Among its
subordinate missions, FEAF was
charged to maintain “an appropriate
mobile air striking force™ and to
“provide air support of operations as
arranged with appropriate Army and
Navy commanders.” The duties of
FEAF as the FEC theater air force
were thus explicitly stated by General
MacArthur as Commander-in-Chief,
Far East (CINCFE). General Mac-
Arthur’s mission was derived from the
wishes of the President of the United
States, as translated into formal
directives by the U.S. Joint Chiefs of
Staft (JCS).!

The years after World War II had
also brought changes in FEAF’s
commanders. General Kenney re-
mained in the Far East until December
1945, at which time Lt. Gen. Ennis C.
Whitehead, who had long commanded
the Fifth Air Force, assumed the duties
as commanding general of FEAF
General Whitehead, a bluff and- com-
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bat-canny officer, had managed the
postwar strength reductions of air units
in the Far East in such a manner that,
although the air garrisons got smaller,
the air forces in the Far East never lost
their combat potential. In April 1949
Lt. Gen. George E. Stratemeyer
relieved General Whitehead, and he
still guided air affairs in the Far East in
June 1950. General Stratemeyer had
served in Asia for nearly three years
during World War 1I. Between July
1943 and July 1945 he had been
commanding general, Army Air Forces
India-Burma Theater. General Strate-
meyer had then taken command of the
Army Air Forces in China and had
retained that post until February 1946.
One journalist said that genial General
“Strat” had something of the air of a
jolly college professor,? but such a
description slighted the capabilities of
this veteran air commander who never
refused a reasonable request but never
sacrificed Air Force principles to
accommodate anyone.

The defensive mission of the Far
East Command, General MacArthur
had informed General Stratemeyer
when the latter reported for duty, was
of primary importance.? The deploy-
ment of FEAF’s subordinate air
forces reflected these defensive
considerations.

Largest of the FEAF subordinate
commands was the Fifth Air Force.
Activated in Brisbane on 3 September
1942, this fighting command had driven
back northward until, at the collapse of
Japan, it had established its headquar-
ters in the city of Nagoya. In October
1948 Maj. Gen. Earle E. Partridge had
taken command of the Fifth Air Force.
Tall and thin with a shock of gray hair,
General “Pat” Partridge had seen his
World War II combat in North Africa
and Great Britain, where he had been
chief of staff of the XII Bomber
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Command and commander of the 3d
Air Division of the Eighth Air Force.
Fifth Air Force tactical units were
deployed in defense of the Japanese
home islands. At Itazuke Air Base on
Kyushu, southernmost of the main
Japanese islands, was the 8th Fighter-
Bomber Wing, augmented by the 68th
Fighter All-Weather Squadron. The 8th
Group was equipped with F-80C jet
interceptors; the 68th Squadron flew
F-82 all-weather fighters. Misawa Air
Base, on the northeastern shore of the
main Japanese island of Honshu,
defended the northern frontiers of
Japan. Here was based the 49th
Fighter-Bomber Wing, whose tactical
group flew F-80C Shooting Star fight-
ers. The center of gravity of the Fifth
Air Force lay in the Kanto Plains of
Honshu, around Tokyo. Yokota Air
Base served the 35th Fighter-Intercep-
tor Wing, the 339th Fighter All-Weather
Squadron, and the 8th Tactical Recon-
naissance Squadron (Photo Jet). The
aircraft complement at Yokota included
F-80C’s, F-82 all-weather fighters, and
RF-80A photo reconnaissance planes.
At Johnson Air Base was the 3d
Bombardment Wing (Light), with a
reduced strength of two tactical
squadrons, which flew conventional
B-26 light bombers. At Tachikawa Air
Base was located the 374th Troop
Carrier Wing, with two squadrons of
C-54 transport aircraft. For the per-
formance of its defensive mission, the
Fifth Air Force was provided with
several aircraft control and warning
groups, whose personnel manned
the large fixed-radar and aircraft-
control facilities which were deployed
throughout Japan.+

Southward from Japan and down off
the coast of Asia on the island of
Okinawa the Twentieth Air Force, Maj.
Gen. A. C. Kincaid commanding, made
its headquarters at Kadena Air Base.

Gen. Douglas MacArthur



General Kincaid had already served his
tour of duty and was slated for rota-
tion. On 31 July 1950 he would be
relieved by Maj. Gen. Ralph E Stear-
ley. The Twentieth Air Force, which
once had controlled the world-wide
operations of all B-29 Superfortress
bombers, was responsible for the air
defense of Okinawa and the Marianas.
Situated at Naha Air Base on Okinawa
was the 51st Fighter-Interceptor Wing,
augmented by the 4th Fighter All-
Weather Squadron. The 51st Group
was assigned F-80C interceptors; the
4th Squadron, like the other fighter all-
weather squadrons, possessed twin-
Mustang F-82 aircraft. Attached to duty
with the Twentieth, with station at
Kadena, was the 31st Photo Reconnais-
sance Squadron, Very Long Range.
This squadron belonged to the U.S.
Strategic Air Command and possessed
RB-29 photo planes. Stationed at
Andersen Air Base, on Guam in the
Marianas, was the 19th Bombardment
Wing. The squadrons of the 19th Group
flew conventional B-29 Superfortresses,
aircraft which had once been designed
“very heavy” but which were now
considered to be “medium” bombers.s
Defending and commanding Ameri-
can installations in the Philippine
Islands was the Thirteenth Air Force—
an unsuperstitious air command which
had been activated in the South Pacific
at 1300 hours, 13 January 1943. This air
force had moved up the island chain
with FEAF during World War II, but
following the defeat of Japan it had
remained in the Philippines. Com-
mander of the Thirteenth Air Force
was Maj. Gen. Howard M. Turner,
whose headquarters and principal
operating site was at Clark Air Base, in
central Luzon. At Clark were based the
18th Fighter-Bomber Wing with
F-80C’s, the attached 21st Troop
Carrier Squadron with C-54’s, and the
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provisional 6204th Photo Mapping
Flight, with a few RB-17 aircraft.¢

The fourth major command of the
Far East Air Forces was the Far East
Air Materiel Command (FEAMCom),
which, as its name implied, furnished
logistical support for all USAF units in
the Far East. Brig. Gen. John P. Doyle
commanded FEAMCom, and his
command post and principal installation
was twenty miles west of downtown
Tokyo, at the sprawling factories and
airfield where the Tachikawa Aircraft
Company had once built Oscar fighters,
but which was now the Tachikawa Air
Depot.”

A few other attached air units
rounded out FEAF’s organizational
structure. Flights of the 2d and 3d Air
Rescue Squadrons, attached for duty
from the USAF Air Rescue Service,
were located at the various bases
where they could best perform their
emergency search and rescue services
with SB-29 and SB-17 aircraft. The
512th and 514th Weather Reconnais-
sance Squadrons of the 2143d Air
Weather Wing flew synoptic weather
reconnaissance missions from Yokota
and Andersen.* The British Common-
wealth air component in Japan was the
Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF)
No. 77 Squadron, which flew F-51
Mustangs and occupied Iwakuni Air
Base, at the Southwestern end of
Honshu. This squadron was available
to General MacArthur as Supreme
Commander Allied Powers, and it
maintained liaison with FEAE but it
was neither attached nor assigned to
the American air command.®

Where FEAF had its stations,
watchful radars never ceased to sweep
the skies, air-defense control centers
were always open, and alert crews
stood by, day and night, to scramble
combat-ready F-80 and F-82 intercep-
tors. Since 1949, when Russia had
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detonated its first atomic burst, every-
one in FEAF had realized that the Cold
War might, at any moment, break into
the flames of World War II1. Such a
new world holocaust would begin with
air attacks against Far East air bases,
launched from Communist airfields in
Asia. Everyone was tautly ready. No

one forgot that for the United States
World War 11 had begun at Hickam
Field with an air attack early on a
Sunday morning. But, despite a high
degree of vigilance, peacetime sched-
ules prevailed, and, except for alert
personnel, a Sunday in occupied Japan
was not a normal day of duty.

2. The North Koreans Strike

As the Sunday which was 25 June
1950 began there was little to mark it
different from any other first day of the
week. Over most of Japan the weather
was fine, except that it was becoming
hot and there were scattered showers.
The summer monsoon was beginning.
Weather predictions called for contin-
ued good weather on Monday and most
of Tuesday, but thereafter a south-
wardly drifting polar front promised to
bring low clouds and rain down through
nearby Korea and across the narrow
sea to Japan. The weather prediction
did not seem particularly important to
the duty officers in the Meiji building as
they managed the routine of the
morning at FEAF headquarters.
Business was generally quiet in Tokyo.
General Stratemeyer was not in Japan.
After conferences in Washington, on
the morning of 25 June he was some-
where in flight between San Francisco
and Hawaii. Before returning to Tokyo,
he meant to pay a command visit to the
Twentieth Air Force on Okinawa. With
Stratemeyer absent, General Partridge
was acting commander of FEAF. He
had been spending a part of his time in
Tokyo, but on the morning of 25 June
he was with his family in Nagoya.'

Over across the Sea of Japan on the

peninsula of Korea the Communist
North Korean People’s Army had also
been watching the weather. The North
Korean high command probably lacked
meteorological capabilities, but it had
the advantage of experiencing south-
wardly flowing weather before it drifted
across the Bamboo Curtain. Taking
advantage of the cover of bad weather,
the Red Koreans had drawn up their
army along the 38th parallel, and at
0400 hours 25 June 1950 they launched
a sudden and all-out attack against the
Republic of Korea. When the North
Koreans struck, said General Mac-
Arthur, they “struck like a cobra.”n
Long fearful of aggression from the
north, the Republic of Korea had built
field fortifications along the 38th
parallel, but the lightly armed South
Korean soldiers proved no match for
the Communists. By 0600 hours
columns of North Korean infantry,
spearheaded by Soviet-built T-34 tanks,
drove through the ROK lines toward
Kaesong in the west and Chunchon in
central Korea. On the east coast, south
of Kangnung, a motley but effective
collection of small boats and junks set
Red troops ashore. To U.S. Korean
Military Advisory Group (KMAG) field
advisers serving with the ROK forces,



the Communist assault looked real
enough from its outset, but many times
before this Red Korean raiding parties
had crossed the border. Accustomed to
such Communist terror tactics, Ameri-
can observers hesitated to report all-
out aggression until they were sure of
their facts. By 0900 hours, however,
the South Korean town of Kaesong had
fallen, and this victory, coupled with
the landings south of Kangnung, made
it starkly evident that this was no mere
raid. The Reds were bent upon an
armed subjugation of the Republic of
Korea.!2

First report of the North Korean
aggression reached the Meiji building at
0945 hours. From Seoul Chief Warrant
Officer Donald Nichols, commander of
District 8, Office of Special Investiga-
tion (OSI), telephoned the news to the
FEAF operations duty officer.t® Al-
though the report was promptly flashed
to all FEAF units, General Partridge
was not in his quarters in Nagoya and
did not get the news from Korea until
1130 hours. General Partridge at once
acknowledged the gravity of the
situation, but he knew that the Far
East Command had only one minor
mission concerning Korea. At the
outbreak of a war or general domestic
disorder, and then only at the request
of the American ambassador, the Far
East Command was required to provide
for the safety of American nationals in
Korea.'

For the accomplishment of the air-
evacuation mission General MacArthur
had charged FEAF to furnish such air-
transport aircraft as might be needed to
move Americans out of Korea. He had
also charged FEAF to be ready to
attack hostile ground and surface
targets in support of the evacuation,
but not before he issued specific
instructions so to do. The Fifth Air
Force had issued its operation plan on
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I March 1950. Since Itazuke Air Base
was closest to Korea, General Par-
tridge had designated the commander
of the 8th Fighter-Bomber Wing as air-
task force commander. Assisted by
other combat wings as needful, the 8th
Wing commander was directed to
provide fighter cover for air and water
evacuations, and he was given opera-
tional control over the transport planes
which the 374th Troop Carrier Wing
would send to him from Tachikawa.
Other wing commanders had stipulated
duties: the 3d Bombardment Wing, for
example, was to stage six B-26s to
Ashiya Air Base (near Itazuke) where
they would fly reconnaissance and
cover missions over the water areas off
Korea.'s

Shortly after 1130 hours General
Partridge ordered all Fifth Air Force
wing commanders to complete the
deployments required to implement the
air evacuation plan, but he cautioned
all of them that flights to Korea would
await further orders.'s During the
afternoon and early evening of 25 June
Col. John M. (““Jack™) Price., com-
mander of the 8th Wing, marshaled his
own F-80 and F-82 fighters, 10 B-26's,
12 C-34’s, and 3 C-47’s. By a fortunate

An F-80 Shooting Star over a Japanese rice
field.
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circumstance, the §th Bombardment
Squadron (Light) had come to Ashiya
for « FEAF air-defense readiness test
on 24 June, and its B-26’s were in place
when the alert sounded. At 2100 hours
Colonel Price telephoned Fifth Air
Force operations that he was prepared
to execute the evacuation operations
plan beginning at 0330 hours on 26
June, a time which would permit the
first C-54 to arrive at Seoul’s Kimpo
Airfield before dawn.”” That same
cvening General Partridge. who had
clected to remain at Nagoya while his
air force implemented the evacuation
plan, held 4 conference of his key statf
members. All of them agreed that the
Fifth Air Force was ready for such
instructions as it might receive. The
talk then drifted around to American
policy toward Korea, what it was likely
to be. One staff officer suggested that
the United States might abandon South
Korea to the Reds. General Partridge
disagreed completely. Such a line of
action, he said, was “unthinkable.” He
believed that new policies on Korea
would be forthcoming from
Washington. ¥

At the same time as the Fifth Air
Force was readying its air evacuation

An F-51 Mustang plows through water to take
off position.

task force events were marching in
Korea. At the American embassy in
Seoul Ambassador John J. Muccio
learned of the invasion at 0930 hours.
At once he went to KMAG hecadquar-
ters, where he learned that a full-scale
Communist attack seemed to be in
progress.'® At about this time, however,
the ROK defenses appeared to begin to
hold. and during the rematnder of the
day Communist gains were limited to a
tank thrust down to Uijongbu and to
three more landings on the cast coast
of Korea. Just before noon, however.
weather began to clear over Seoul, and
the North Korean Air Force entered
combat. At 1315 hours two dirty silver-
colored Yak fighters buzzed Seoul and
Kimpo airfields and winged off north-
ward without attacking. But at 1700
hours the Yaks returned. Two of them
strafed Kimpo, hitting the control
tower, a gasoline dump. and an Ameri-
can Military Air Transport Service
(MATS) C-54 which was grounded with
a damaged wing. Four other Yaks
strafed the Seoul Airfield and damaged
seven out of ten trainer airplanes which
the ROK Air Force had there. At
approximately 1900 hours six other
North Korean fighters again strafed
Kimpo. This time they completely
destroyed the hapless MATS
transport.

During the afternoon of 25 June
ROK President Syngman Rhee’s
importunate telephone calls kept
Ambassador Muccio occupied. Presi-
dent Rhee believed that the ROK
ground troops would offer effective
opposition, but he was greatly worried
about the Reds’ superiority in tanks
and aircraft. Unable to contact General
MacArthur, Rhee telephoned an urgent
plea to Muccio. Give us ten F-51
aircraft, with bombs and “bazookas™
(rockets). he begged. Deliver them
before dawn on 26 June to Korecan



pilots who will be waiting at Taegu.
Unless these planes are received, Rhee
warned, it will be very difficult to meet
the northern attack. Rhee also asked
for heavier artillery which could disable
or destroy Communist tanks, specifi-
cally 75-mm. antitank guns, 105-mm.
howitzers, and 155-mm. howitzers.2!
Ambassador Muccio relayed these
requests to Tokyo and reported to the
U.S. Secretary of State that Rhee was
most concerned about his lack of air
capabilities. “As Department doubtless
aware,” Muccio cabled, “Rhee and
other Korean officials will look to
United States for air assistance above
all else. Future course of hostilities
may depend largely on whether United
States will or will not give adequate air
assistance.”’22

Through the evening of 25 June the
Korean situation did not appear to be
critical enough to warrant the evacua-
tion of American nationals.?* A few
minutes before midnight, however,
Ambassador Muccio informed Mac-
Arthur that he had decided to evacuate
dependent women and children from
the vicinity of Seoul and Inchon. He
felt compelled to do this because of the
Red tank concentration at Uijongbu,
actually only 17 miles north of Seoul.
Several merchant freighters were in the
harbor at Inchon, and Muccio proposed
to load as many as needed with
evacuees and get them started for
Fukuoka port in Japan, beginning as
early as possible on the morning of 26
June.2* At 0045 hours on 26 June Brig.
Gen. Jarred V. Crabb, the FEAF
Director of Operations, awakened
General Partridge with a telephone call:
General MacArthur had ordered FEAF
to provide fighter cover while the
freighters loaded and withdrew from
Inchon. The fighters were to remain
offshore at all times, but they were to
shoot in defense of the freighters.2s
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General Partridge instructed the 8th
Fighter-Bomber Wing to furnish the
freighters with combat air patrols.
Within a few minutes, however, Fifth
Air Force operations let General Crabb
know that Colonel Price anticipated
difficulties. This patrol work was a job
for long-range conventional aircraft, not
for the speedy but fuel-hungry jets.
Colonel Price’s 68th Fighter All-
Weather Squadron had twelve opeia-
tional F-82’s, but he needed more
aircraft than this. The Fifth Air Force
first asked if it would not be possible to
use the RAAF No. 77 Squadron’s
Mustangs, but General Crabb replied
that the British had not yet taken a
stand in the Korean war. The Fifth Air
Force therefore ordered the 339th
Fighter All-Weather Squadron to move
its combat-ready F-82’s from Yokota to
Itazuke. This was still not enough of
the long-range fighters, and General
Crabb ordered the Twentieth Air Force
to send eight of the 4th Squadron’s
planes up to Itazuke from Okinawa. To
clear his ramps to receive these
additional fighters, Colonel Price
moved the contingent of C-54’s from
Itazuke to nearby Ashiya.2s

Early on the morning of 26 June
General Partridge flew from Nagoya to
Tokyo’s Haneda Airfield. At FEAF
headquarters he held a staff confer-
ence, where the principal matter of
discussion was the evacuation opera-
tion. Throughout the morning intelli-
gence reports were optimistic. KMAG
reported “increased steadiness” on the
part of ROK troops opposing the tank
column north of Seoul, that Chunchon
had been retaken, and that the invaders
on the east coast had been contained.
These reports were so favorable that
FEAF released the C-54 transports at
Ashiya to return to normal duties.?”

The optimistic expectation that the
ROK Army, if given adequate logistical
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support, could hold still prevailed in
midafternoon, when General Partridge
went to the Dai Ichi building to attend
a teleconference between the Joint
Chiefs and General MacArthur’s staff,
In these discussions the JCS approved
all of MacArthur’s recommendations.
He was authorized to send a GHQ
survey party, headed by Brig. Gen.
John H. Church, to Seoul to determine
the amounts and types of equipment
needed by the ROK forces. He was
authorized to ship arms and equipment
to Korea and to protect the shipments.
He was instructed to use armed force if
such were necessary to insure the
safety of the Americans being evacu-
ated from Seoul. The JCS also in-
formed MacArthur that the U.S.
Seventh Fleet, which had one large
aircraft carrier (the Valley Forge), was
proceeding from Philippine waters to
Sasebo, where it would come under the
operational control of Vice-Adm. C.
Turner Joy, commander Naval Forces
Far East (NavFE). At the end of this
teleconference the Joint Chiefs asked if
MacArthur required further instruc-
tions. He replied that he did not.2
Evacuation operations got under way
in Seoul early on the morning of 26
June, and, to the dismay of the F-82
pilots, who orbited in relays above
Inchon harbor, lasted all day. In a
change of plans the F-82’s were
allowed to come inland to cover truck
convoys moving from Seoul to the
Army Support Command compound
near Inchon, but for the most part the
flights of four F-82’s remained over
Inchon harbor. The air-patrol duty was
without incident until 1333 hours, when
a radial-engine Communist fighter came
out of the clouds and bounced two F-
82’s. The American pilots were uncer-
tain as to whether they should return
fire. The evacuation vessel was in no
danger. Instead of joining the attack,

the F-82 pilots took evasive action, and
the Communist plane did not prolong
the attack.z Missionaries and friendly
foreign nationals swelled the ranks of
the evacuees, and at a final head count
682 persons required transportation.
With some crowding, all of these
people were loaded aboard the Norwe-
gian merchant ship Reinholte (which
had just unloaded a cargo of fertilizer),
and at 1630 hours the vessel at last
weighed anchor.» After nightfall two F-
82’s continued to escort the vessel as it
got under way and proceeded toward
Japan. Early on the morning of 27 June
the Reinholte finally met escorting
destroyers. At this time the Fifth Air
Force got permission to cover the con-
voy with B-26 aircraft during the remain-
der of its voyage to Fukuoka port.3!

Ambassador Muccio had planned to
continue to evacuate superfluous
personnel from Seoul in a second and
possibly a third merchant vessel, but he
would not have enough time. With the
coming of darkness on 26 June ROK
morale began to crack. Shortly after
2200 hours President Rhee summoned
Muccio to a conference and there told
him that the North Korean tanks
approaching Seoul could not be
stopped. Accordingly, Rhee was going
to move his government to Taejon,
either during the night or the first thing
the next morning. At midnight Col. W.
H. S. Wright, chief of KMAG, reported
that the enemy would be in Seoul
within a day. Both Muccio and Wright
asked for emergency air evacuation,
and General MacArthur ordered FEAF
to provide it, beginning at dawn on 27
June.*? Foreseeing that the transport
operations would require active fighter
support, General Partridge dispatched a
fignting order to the Fifth Air Force.
“No interference with your mission,”
stated General Partridge, “will be
tolerated.” 3
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American civilians leave the USS Reinholt at Japan
(right) First evacuees arrive at a Fifth Air Force base. 27 June 1950
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Arriving at Itazuke a few hours
before dawn on 27 June, the air
evacuation order caused Colonel Price
some concern. The F-82 planes and
pilots were fatigued: one all-weather
pilot had flown fifteen hours out of the
preceding thirty-eight. The C-54
transport contingent had been released
and had scattered to routine duties. In
short order, however, Colonel Price got
two C-54’s from the 374th Wing and
eleven C-47’s from the FEAF base
flight and from FEAMCom. Designing
to provide an umbrella over the
transports, Colonel Price directed his
F-80 jet fighters (which had their most
economical fuel consumption at high
altitudes) to fly high cover over Seoul.
The F-82 pilots were instructed to orbit
at lower levels. To be safely certain
that Colonel Price had enough fighters,
Fifth Air Force operations flashed the
word to the 9th Fighter-Bomber
Squadron (49th Wing) to move from its
maneuver station at Komaki Air Base
to Itazuke on the morning of 27 June.

At the appointed time the 8th
Fighter-Bomber Wing was ready to
execute the air evacuation order.
Before dawn the first transports left
Itazuke with F-82 route escort, and at
first light orbiting F-80’s established
themselves along the Han River, south
of Seoul. Thereafter, during the day,
Colonel Price improvised to meet
constantly changing requirements.
General MacArthur’s staff first assured
FEAF that only 375 persons required
transportation, nearly all from Kimpo.
But both the American Embassy and
KMAG decided to release all nonessen-
tial people, and, to expedite the airlift,
they divided the evacuees between
Kimpo and the small airfield at Suwon,
about 20 miles south of Seoul. During
the morning the United Nations
Commission on Korea decided to
evacuate 1o Japan, further swelling the
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number of persons awaiting air trans-
portation at Kimpo. Communications
between Itazuke and the Korean
airfields proved unreliable, and before
the day was over each aircrew arriving
at Itazuke reported the number of
persons still requiring transportation,
and the 8th Wing dispatched planes to
get them. So much confusion jangled
the nerves of the evacuees (none of
them were ever quite sure that a
departing aircraft might not be the
last), but all who waited were picked
up before dusk. When the air evacua-
tion operation officially ended shortly
before midnight on 27 June, a total of
748 persons had been flown to safety in
Japan. By 29 June all superfluous
persons were out of Korea. At this
time a total of 851 individuals had been
flown out of the war zone, a figure
comparing favorably with the 905 who
had been removed from Korea by
water transportation.’

Not a single refugee was injured
during the mass air exodus from Korea.
This record of safety was attributable
in no small part to the impenetrable
fighter cover which the 8th Wing kept
aloft over Kimpo and Suwon while the
vulnerable transports landed and
loaded passengers. Throughout 27 June
the North Korean Air Force amply
demonstrated that it wanted to destroy
the helpless transports. At about noon
five Yak fighters swept over Seoul at
10,000 feet, headed for Kimpo. Waiting
for the Reds were five F-82 fighters of
the 68th and 339th squadrons, and in a
few minutes Lt. William G. Hudson,
Maj. James W. Little, and Lt. Charles
B. Moran each destroyed one of the
enemy planes. The other Communist
pilots fled. Each of the American pilots
was, in various quarters, credited with
the first aerial victory of the Korean
war. In 1953, however, the Fifth Air
Force reviewed conflicting testimony
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and officially stated that Lieutenant
Hudson, 68th Fighter All-Weather
Squadron, had destroyed the first
Communist aircraft in Korea.

Early on the afternoon of 27 June
Communist airmen made a second
attempt to attack the American trans-
ports at Kimpo. This time the North
Koreans sent out eight 1L-10 fighters.
These improved versions of the dread
Stormovik plane of World War 11
proved a feeble match for the four F-
80C jet fighters which the 35th Fighter-
Bomber Squadron had posted on air
alert over Scoul. Very quickly, with a
minimum of maneuver, the 35th Squad-
ron pilots blasted down four of the Red
planes, and the other Red pilots turncd
tail and ran. In this air battle Capt.
Raymond E. Schilleretf and Lt. Robert
H. Dewald scored single victories and
Lt. Robert E. Wayne shot down two
enemy planes. These were the first
aerial victories for a USAF jet fighter.
They clearly demonstrated that even
these oldest jets were superior to one
of the best conventional aircraft of
World War 1I. When the Red pilots
who survived this air battle got back to
their home airfield—most probably
Heijjo airfield at Pyongyang—they
evidently passed the word that the
Fifth Air Force was shooting to kill.
No more aggressor plans appeared in
the Seoul area on 27 June.”

During the first two days of the

Russian IL-10
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Korean hostilitics the United States
obviously hoped that the Republic of
Korea would be able to win its own
battle without armed assistance from
the outside. Just before dawn on 27
June Ambassador Muccio had to
inform the ROK prime minister, who
begged for American air support. that
FEAF planes were not allowed to
attack the Communist guns and tanks
which were decimating ROK
defenses.® Even without air support.
the ROK Army made a valiant and
supreme effort at first light on 27 June.
The ROK 2d and 7th Divisions. plus
clements of the Sth Division. launched
an attack toward Uijongbu. Within an
hour or so this last supreme cffort was
shattered, and the broken remnants of
the three divisions streamed back
toward the Han River. The city of
Seoul could now be taken when the
Reds wanted it, and the demoralized
ROK chicf of staff told all who would
listen that the loss of the capital city
meant the collapse of South Korca. In
an early afternoon teleconference with
the Joint Chiefs of Staff, General
MacArthur warned that ROK army
units were no longer able to resist the
determined Communist offensive. “Qur
cstimate.” he stated, “is that a com-
plete collapse is imminent.”® It was
starkly apparent that the Republic of
Korea could not survive without active
American military assistance.
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3. Korea Was an International Problem

As far back as history recorded the
Korean peninsula, which thrusts down
like an arm from the continent of Asia,
had always been a pawn in the game of
international rivalries played by its
more powerful neighbors. In modern
times Korea had been a nominally
subject state to the Chinese Empire,
but Japan’s victory in the Sino-Japa-
nese War had ended this traditional
relationship in 1895. After a short
period of sovereignty, which was much
complicated by Russo-Japanese rival-
ries, Korea came increasingly under the
influence of Japan, so much so that in
1910 she lost her independence in a
formal Japanese annexation. Despite
some qualms of international morality
over the ruthless Japanese subjugation
of a proud and independent people, the
legality of Japan’s tenure in Korea
went unquestioned by any foreign
nation.

Only after December 1941, when
Japan’s plans for a new order in Asia
caused her to attack the United States,
did American statesmen remember that
Korea was numbered among the first
victims of Japanese aggression. The
first real commitment concerning Korea
was made at the Cairo Conference.
Here, in an official communiqué of 1
December 1943 the United States,
Great Britain, and China stated: “The
aforesaid three great powers, mindful
of the enslavement of the people of
Korea, are determined that in due
course Korea shall become free and
independent.”

Believing that a military occupation
of Korea by any single power would
have serious political repercussions,
U.S. State Department planners urged
that an international administration

representing the United States, Great
Britain, China, and the Soviet Union
could best prepare the long-subjugated
Koreans for independent statehood.*!
At Yalta, in February 1945, President
Franklin D. Roosevelt suggested to
Generalissimo J. V. Stalin that Korea
should be prepared for independence
by an international trusteeship, includ-
ing a representative from Russia.+
Stalin appeared receptive, but no
formal agreement was made at this
time. On 28 May 1945, however, Stalin
formally agreed to the proposal in a
conversation with Mr. Harry Hopkins
in Moscow. At the Potsdam Conference
the Allies reaffirmed their adherence to
the Cairo declaration and on 8 August
1945, when she declared war on the
Japanese, the Soviet Union announced
her adherence to the Potsdam
declaration.

The U.S. State Department had
hoped to avoid the partitioning of
Korea into zones of military occupa-
tion. But because of a sooner than
anticipated capitulation of Japan, some
emergency partition had to be devised
on very short notice in order to accept
the surrender of Japanese troops in
Korea. The U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff
therefore proposed that the Russians
(who were already entering Korea)
should demobilize Japanese forces
north of a dividing line drawn along the
38th parallel and that American forces
would accept the surrenders south of
this line. The Soviet Chiefs of Staff
accepted the proposal without debate
or bargaining.* Although the United
States regarded the 38th parallel
dividing line as a temporary and
undesirable expedient, which severed



First Six Days

Korea’s political and economic unity,
the Russians appeared to be quite
content that Korea should be parti-
tioned. Early in December 1945 the
commander of American occupation
forces in Korea reported that the
Russians were building field fortifica-
tions on their side of the parallel.+
Later in December, at Moscow, a
meeting of foreign ministers provided
for the establishment of a Joint Ameri-
can-Soviet Commission, representing
the two military commands in Korea,
whose primary duty would be to assist
the formation of a provisional Korean
government. This joint commission
functioned fruitlessly. It was never able
to find acceptable solutions to the
Korean problem.#

At last, in September 1947, the
United States asked the United Nations
to take up the problem of Korean
unification. This world organization’s
General Assembly—over strong Soviet
opposition—decided that a national
government for Korea should be
established through nationwide elec-
tions, supervised by a United Nations
Temporary Commission on Korea. The
government so formed would constitute
its own national security forces, take
over the functions of government
exercised by the occupation forces, and
arrange with the occupying powers for

the prompt withdrawal of their troops. -

The Soviet Union maintained that the
General Assembly’s action was
“illegal,” and the North Korean
Communists refused to allow the
United Nations commission to super-
vise free elections in the area which
they controlled. Nevertheless, the
commission held elections south of the
38th parallel, which, when conducted
on 10 May 1948, formed the Republic
of Korea, headed by an American-
educated Korean patriot—Syngman
Rhee. In 1948, and again in 1949, the
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United Nations General Assembly
declared the ROK government to be
the only freely elected and lawful
government in Korea. The General
Assembly also established a United
Nations Commission on Korea, which
it charged to facilitate the peaceful
unification of all Korea.+

The Soviet Union not only refused to
participate in the United Nations
actions in Korea, but she also moved
toward the establishment of a rival
“autonomous” government in Korea.
The Communist regime at Pyongyang
announced and held elections on 25
August 1948 for a “Supreme People’s
Assembly,” which supposedly repre-
sented the people of both North and
South Korea. This government of the
so-called “People’s Democratic Repub-
lic of Korea™ was headed by Kim 1I
Sung, a Russian-trained Communist
who had assumed the name of a
legendary Korean guerrilla leader. On
20 September 1948 the Soviet foreign
ministry announced that all Russian
occupation troops would be withdrawn
from Korea by 1 January 1949. It
invited the United States to withdraw
its forces from South Korea.«

The Soviet proposal that all foreign
troops should be withdrawn from
Korea was quite welcome to American
military planners. For more than a year
they had wanted to evacuate the
American occupation forces, but they
had known that this was impossible as
long as Russian troops remained in
Korea. On 25 September 1947 the Joint
Chiefs had informed President Truman:
“From the standpoint of military
security, the United States has little
strategic interest in maintaining the
present troops and bases in Korea.” If
hostilities broke out, the American
forces in Korea would be a “military
liability.” American military manpower,
moreover, was severely strained, and
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the Joint Chiefs, who viewed Cold War
requirements from a global viewpoint,
considered that the 45,000 men of the
U.S. Army Forces in Korea could
“well be used elsewhere.”#

The United States government thus
desired to reduce its military commit-
ment in Korea, and yet it had no wish
to abandon the Republic of Korea. A
joint governmental policy coordinating
committee therefore submitted a
planning paper projecting American
policy toward Korea. This paper went
through the National Security Council
to President Harry S. Truman, who, on
8 April 1948, approved it for action.
The United States would undertake to
train and equip a South Korean armed
force which would provide security
“against any but an overt act of
aggression by North Korean or other
forces.” The United States would
afford economic assistance to South
Korea: a diplomatic mission would use
its influence to persuade the new
government in South Korea to follow
policies which would contribute to its
own stability. The United States would
not, however, become so irrevocably
involved in Korea that any action by
any faction there could be considered
to be a casus belli for the United
States. Finally, the United States would
encourage continued United Nations
interest in the Korean problem and
would continue to cooperate with the
United Nations in seeking a solution to
the Korean situation.s

Official American policy undertook
to build in the Republic of Korea an
indigenous security force large enough
to maintain internal order and public
safety but not so large as to strain the
country’s economy or so powerful as to
provide a means for aggression against
North Korea. Calculated on these
terms, the United States undertook to
support the training and equipment of a
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President Truman and Secretary of the Air
Force Symington, 1949.

ROK military force comprising an army
of 65,000 men, a coast guard of 4,000
men. and a police force of 35,000 men.
Since it was a security force, the ROK
Army was equipped with hand weap-
ons, heavy machine guns. and 81-mm.
mortars. It was not provided with tanks
or artillery.s

This modest military force was not
nearly so large as the ROK government
thought to be necessary. In Washington
Korean Ambassador Chough Pyung Ok
pressed for a standing army of 100,000
men, a militia of 50,000, an air force of
3.000 men (with 75 fighters. 12 bomb-
ers, 30 training and reconnaissance
planes, and 5 cargo aircraft), a navy of
10,000 men (with two cruisers), and a
police force of 50,000 men. And in
some measure the ROK did slightly
increase the size of its army by reduc-
tions in its police force: by June 1950
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the ROK had eight divisions (82,000
men) and an 18,000-man police force.
But Mr. Kenneth C. Royall, U.S.
Secretary of Army, and Lt. Gen. Albert
C. Wedemeyer, the Army’s chief
planner, visiting Korea in February
1949, explained to President Rhee that
Korea should not burden its economy
with excessive armed forces but
should, instead, concentrate on
economic stability.s:

President Rhee continued to insist
that the Republic of Korea needed an
air force to balance its military
strength. At Rhee’s request Maj. Gen.
Claire L. Chennault (USAF Retired)
drew up a plan for a 99-plane air force,
including an air striking force of 25
F-51's. When General MacArthur’s
opinion of the Chennault plan was
sought, he replied that such a force was
not essential to the maintenance of
internal order in Korea, would increase
the possibility of war between North
and South Korea, and would lend
credence to Communist charges that
the United States was fostering an
armaments race in Korea.® United
States policy did allow the ROK to
possess air liaison aircraft and detach-
ments, and, using this wedge, the ROK
authorities activated a separate air
force on 10 October 1949. At this time
they assured the United States that the
seeming expansion meant no more than
the establishment of air representation
at the ROK joint chiefs of staft level.*
In April 1950 the ROK Air Force
mustered 187 officers and 1,672 enlisted
men, and 39 of its 57 pilots were
counted as trained. The ROKAF’s 16
planes (8 L-4’s, 5 L-5’s. and 3 T-6')
were located at Kimpo and Seoul
airfields. and it had detachments at
Suwon, Taegu, Kwang-ju, Kunsan, and
Cheju-do.5s

As the ROK military forces attained
strength and effectiveness, the United

ROK President Syngman Rhee

States reduced its occupation forces in
Korea. At last, on 29 June 1949, the
last American military units departed
Korea, and at midnight on 30 June 1949
General MacArthur inactivated the
command which had been called U.S.
Army Forces in Korea.s Only a small
U.S. Korean Military Advisory Group
remained in Korea. It numbered about
500 persons, and, since it was responsi-
ble to the State Department, its work
was immediately supervised by the
American ambassador in Seoul. Effec-
tive with the inactivation of USAFIK,
the U.S. Far East Command no longer
had any responsibility for the defense
of the free Republic of Korea.s

The withdrawal of American troops
from Korea did not change the objec-
tives of the United States government
toward Korea. This government
continued to stand for a unified, free,
and democratic Korea. These, how-
ever, were political objectives, to be
obtained through peaceful measures.
No statesman had ever suggested that
the United States should go to war to
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unify Korea. In 1947 the United
Nations had also accepted the objective
that all Korea ought to be united under
a free and popularly elected govern-
ment. The United Nations had spon-
sored the creation of the Republic of
Korea and recognized it as the only
lawful government in Korea.

But what did the United States
intend to do if the Republic of Korea
was attacked by an external aggressor?
In a speech before the National Press
Club in Washington on 12 January
1950, U.S. Secretary of State Dean
Acheson offered an answer to this
question. He said the the defensive
perimeter of the United States ran from
the Aleutians to Japan, then to the
Ryukyus, and then to the Philippines.
The United States military forces held
defensive positions along this line, and
this perimeter of defense would be
unilaterally defended by the United
States. Should an attack occur in some
other area in the Pacific, Acheson
stated that initial reliance for resistance
to such an attack would be expected
from the people subjected to the attack
and ““then upon the commitments of
the entire civilized world under the
Charter of the United Nations which so
far has not proved a weak reed to lean
on by any people who are determined
to protect their independence against
outside aggression.” 8 Secretary
Acheson’s speech was criticized by
those who said that it informed the
Communists that the United States did
not intend to defend Korea or For-
mosa. In the soft-spoken language of
diplomacy, however, Acheson had
actually stated that the United States
would unilaterally defend areas which
were strategically important to it and
would participate with the United
Nations to check aggression against
other free peoples in the Pacific.®

Soviet policy toward Korea in the
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years between 1945 and 1950 can only
be surmised from Communist actions in
Korea. In 1945 and 1946 the Russians
may have intended to honor their
commitments. At any rate, shortly after
their occupation began, Soviet forces
looted many of North Korea’s indus-
tries. Such capital goods as an entire
aviation depot at Wonsan and part of
the electrical generating equipment at
the mammoth Sui-ho hydroelectric
plant on the Yalu River were expropria-
ted.® Soon, however, the Russians
must have realized that they had fallen
heir to a major industrial region built
by the Japanese, and before long this
industrial potential was incorporated
into a growing Communist economic
complex in the Far East. Electric
power, tungsten, high-grade steel, and
other economic goods flowed from
North Korea into Communist China
and the USSR to repay these powers
for services and military supplies
furnished to the “People’s Democratic
Republic of Korea.”

At the beginning of their occupation
the Russians transplanted to Korea
political cadres of Communist indoctri-
nated Korean émigrés, who had been’
nurtured on Soviet soil during the years
of Japanese occupation.s! A North
Korean army began to form around the
core of two battle-hardened divisions
made up of Korean exiles and refugees
who had served in Soviet forces, some
of them at Stalingrad. Later on, when
the Chinese Communists triumphed in
China, they, too, sent to Korea battle-
wise cadres and entire units of the
“Korean Volunteer Army,” which had
seen field service against the Chinese
Nationalists. In 1949 and 1950 the
Chinese Communist forces passed to
Korean control three complete divi-
sions of Koreans who had either
volunteered for service with the
Communists or had been conscripted in
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Manchuria. On 25 June 1950 the North
Korean People’s Army (NKPA) totaled
about 100,000 troops and was com-
posed of eight infantry divisions, three
border constabulary brigades, and an
armored brigade.©? The NKPA infantry
divisions and the armored brigade were
freely provided with the Soviet military
equipment which they required for a
“blitz” assault. In the spring of 1951
Andrei Y. Vyshinsky would frankly
admit to the United Nations that Russia
had *sold” this offensive military
equipment to the NKPA .6

The North Korean Air Force
(NKAF) was formed under Russian
tutelage and was equipped with Soviet-
built aircraft. With headquarters at
Pyongyang, the NKAF comprised an
air division, which was subdivided into
a fighter regiment, a ground-attack
regiment, and a training regiment. On
the day the war began the North
Koreans apparently possessed 62 IL-10
aircraft, 70 Yak-3 and Yak-7B fighters,
22 Yak-16 transports (similar to a
USAF C-45), and 8 PO-2 trainer
aircraft. Most of the 132 combat planes
were based at the two airfields near
Pyongyang and at the airfield at Yonpo,
on the eastern coast of Korea below
Hungnam. The North Koreans also
made some use of the airfield at
Wonsan, and they were building
advanced strips near the 38th parallel at
Sinmak, Pyonggang, Kumchon, and
Kansong. On 26 June a detachment of
ten Yak-7B’s and two IL-10’s moved
from Pyongyang to Sinmak.» The
Hyushin and Yakovlev aircraft were
obsolete in a jet air age, but they were
good conventional aircraft. Many of the
North Korean pilots were young
volunteers with limited flying experi-
ence, but they were cocky, aggressive,
and eager to fight. The NKAF was
“young” and incompletely trained, but
it was clearly an offensive force. On
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the eve of hostilities FEAF stated that
the North Korean Air Force had the
capability to destroy the meager
ROKAF and then materially to assist
the North Korean ground troops as
they moved into South Korea.ss

Despite the secrecy that surrounded
Communist activities, the Korean
Military Advisory Group received some
hints that Chinese-trained units had
been joining the North Korean army.
On 25 May 1950 KMAG knew that the
North Koreans had six regular divi-
sions located between the 38th and 39th
parallels, and it suspected that seven
other divisions were being formed from
constabulary and recruits near the
Manchurian border, an area from which
little intelligence information could be
obtained.¢ By the spring of 1950 the
North Korean army was reaching a
strength which would permit it to
attack, but its aggressive intentions
could only be conjectured. On 8§
December 1949 KMAG reported that
no immediate invasion seemed immi-
nent, but that, following the completion
of the Chinese Communist campaigns
in China, additional troops would be
channeled into North Korea, increasing
the threat to South Korea. On 10
March KMAG relayed a report that the
North Koreans would invade sometime
in June 1950.¢7 In May 1950 Ambassa-
dor Muccio predicted that the ROK
would be increasingly threatened by the
transfer of men released from the
successful Chinese Communist
campaigns.ss

Military intelligence agencies in the
Far East correctly assessed the build-
up of North Korean forces, but they
were unable to agree as to the likeli-
hood of a Korean war. In April 1950
Far East Command intelligence be-
lieved “that there will be no civil war
in Korea this spring or summer....The
most probable course of North Korean
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action is the continuation of its efforts
to overthrow the South Korean govern-
ment by the creation of chaotic condi-
tions in the republic through guerriila
activities and psychological warfare.”’®
On 1 June 1950 FEAF intelligence
recognized that the North Koreans had
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enough military power to undertake a
war against the Republic of Korea at
any time it selected. “South Korea,”
predicted FEAE “will fall before a
North Korean invasion, which will be
initiated whenever Soviet strategy so
dictates.”’7

4. Decisions at Washington and Lake Success

Early on the evening of Saturday, 24
June 1950,* press news flashes first
informed Washington that the Commu-
nists had broken the peace in Korea.
At 2126 hours the State Department
received the first official word from
Seoul. A telegram from Ambassador
Muccio stated that the North Koreans
had apparently launched an all-out
attack against the Republic of Korea.
The State Department promptly relayed
this information to the Defense Depart-
ment, to President Harry S. Truman at
Independence, Missouri, and to United
Nations Secretary General Trygve Lie
at his residence in Forest Hills, Long
Island.™

The report from Korea sounded like
a major violation of the United Nations
charter’s ban on military aggression to
Secretary General Trygve Lie, and he
informed the State Department that he
was prepared to bring the Security
Council together to consider the matter.
Before making a formal recommenda-
tion to the Security Council, however,
Lie preferred to obtain a report from
the United Nations Commission on
Korea. The next morning. 25 June, Lie
received a dispatch from Dr. Liu
Yu-wan, chairman of UNCOK, which

confirmed the aggression and suggested
that it be brought before the Security
Council. That afternoon at Lake
Success the Security Council adopted a
draft resolution submitted by the
United States. The vote was 9 to 0,
with Russia absent and Yugoslavia
abstaining. This resolution noted *““with
grave concern the armed attack upon
the Republic of Korea by forces from
North Korea” and determined that this
action constituted a breach of the
peace. It called for the “immediate
cessation of hostilities” and directed
the authorities of North Korea “to
withdraw forthwith their armed forces
to the 38th parallel.” It requested “all
Members to render every assistance to
the United Nations in the execution of
this resolution and to refrain from
giving assistance to the North Korean
authorities.” 72

In Washington the State and Defense
Departments thought that the United
Nations’ resolution of 25 June met the
needs of the immediate situation. On
the preceding night Secretary Dean
Acheson had told President Truman
that he was not immediately needed in
Washington, but at midday on 25 June
he was less certain. As Truman was

*There is a time difference of fourteen hours between Korea and Washington. For example, 0400 hours, Sunday,
in Korea is the same time as 1400 hours, Saturday. in Washington. The times and dates used are those of the place

where the events described occurred.
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On alert at a base in Japan.
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sitting down to a Sunday dinner in
Independence, Acheson reached him
on the telephone. The Security Coun-
cil, Acheson said, would probably vote
the cease-fire resolution, but the North
Koreans were likely to ignore it. Some
decision was needed at once as to the
degree of aid or encouragement which
the United States would be willing to
extend to Korea. Truman decided to
return to Washington at once, and he
asked Acheson to schedule a dinner-
time conference at Blair House.”

At 1915 hours that night the Presi-
dent landed at Washington and drove
directly to his temporary residence at
Blair House. Here were assembled the
key officers of the Departments of
State and Defense, including the Joint
Chiefs of Staff: General Omar Bradley
(chairman), General J. Lawton Collins
(Army), Admiral Forrest P. Sherman
(Navy), and General Hoyt S. Vanden-
berg (Air Force). Most of the talk over
the dinner table reflected a hope that
the South Koreans could hold with the
help of American arms and equipment
which General MacArthur was sending
them. The main theme of conversation,
however, was that the Communists
appeared to be repeating patterns of
aggression similar to those acts which
had set off World War I1.

After dinner President Truman
opened the conference with the state-
ment that he did not wish to make
decisions that night, except such as
were immediately necessary. Secretary
Acheson then presented three recom-
mendations which had been prepared
by the State and Defense Departments:
that MacArthur would send arms and
ammunition to Korea, that MacArthur
would furnish ships and planes to assist
and protect the evacuation of American
dependents from Korea, and that the
U.S. Seventh Fleet would be ordered
northward from the Philippines to
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report to MacArthur. Truman asked for
comments, and the discussion worked
around to what the United States might
have to do to save South Korea.
Vandenberg and Sherman thought that
air and naval aid might be enough.
Collins stated that if the ROK Army
was really broken, American ground
forces would be needed. At the end of
the meeting President Truman directed
that orders be issued implementing the
three recommendations made by the
State and Defense Departments.7
Shortly after the Sunday night meeting
broke up the Pentagon put these orders
on the teletype to General MacArthur.
As has been seen, they were received
in Tokyo during the midafternoon of
Monday, 26 June, Far East time.

In Washington and Lake Success, on
26 June, the news received from Korea
was distressing. Far from obeying the
Security Council’s cease-fire order, the
North Koreans continued their attack
and openly called upon the government
of the Republic of Korea to surrender.
At 1929 hours Secretary Acheson
telephoned President Truman and told
him that reports from Korea were so
bad that another conference was
advisable. Truman instructed Acheson
to summon the same group that had
conferred the night before to another
Blair House meeting at 2100 hours.

When the second Blair House
conference assembled, General Bradley
stated that General MacArthur’s
dispatches made it apparent that the
ROK forces could not hold Seoul and
were, in fact, in danger of complete
collapse. As senior cabinet officer,
Secretary Acheson spoke first. He said
that the Security Council would meet
again on the next afternoon, Tuesday,
and at this time the United States
would press for the adoption of a
resolution recommending assistance to
the South Koreans. But there was not
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time to wait for the additional resolu-
tion. Acheson therefore recommended
that the U.S. Navy and Air Force be
ordered to provide the fullest possible
cover and support to South Korean
forces south of the 38th parallel. He
repeated a suggestion that he had made
the night before: that the U.S. Seventh
Fleet be ordered to prevent any attack
against Formosa, and that the Chinese
Nationalists “be called upon™ to cease
any military action against the Chinese
mainland. Acheson also recommended
increased American military aid to the
Philippines and Indo-China. No one
objected to these recommendations.
President Truman approved them, and
at 2140 hours the second Blair House
conference broke up.”

Before midnight the Joint Chiefs had
MacArthur and his staff assembled for
a teleconference. The Joint Chiefs of
Staff now stated that all restrictions
preventing FEAF from supporting and
assisting in the defense of ROK
territory were lifted for operations
below the 38th parallel. Similarly, they
continued, Navy forces might be used
without restriction against aggressor
forces in coastal waters and sea
approaches to the Republic of Korea,
south of the 38th parallel. The purpose
of the change in orders, stated the Joint
Chiefs, was to clear North Korean

Mustangs headed for an early dawn mission
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forces trom the Republic of Korea.m
Because of delays at Lake Success
President Truman had ordered Ameri-
can forces into action several hours
before the Security Council adopted a
resolution specifically recommending
that member states furnish assistance
to the Republic of Korea. Secrctary
General Trygve Lic nevertheless
considered Truman’s order to be “fully
within the spirit of the Council's
resolution of June 25. 1. for one.™
said Lie, “welcomed the United States’
initiative.” At Lake Success it was
clear that seven votes—the required
majority—favored armed assistance to
the Republic of Korea. but the Security
Council had been holding up a vote
until the delegates from India and
Egypt could obtain instructions from
their home governments. Finally, in the
evening hours of 27 June, the Security
Council waited no longer, but adopted
by a vote of seven in favor and one
(Yugoslavia) opposed a resolution
which recommended that “‘the Mem-
bers of the United Nations furnish such
assistance to the Republic of Korea as
may be necessary to repel armed attack
and restore international peace and
security in the area.””” Once again the
Soviet delegate. who could have vetoed
the resolution, did not attend the
meeting of the Security Council.
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5. Battle for the Han River Line

Such was the difference in time
between Washington and Tokyo that it
was midafternoon on 27 June when
General MacArthur received the
instructions directing him to use air and
naval forces in support of the South
Koreans. That morning General
Stratemeyer had reached Haneda
Airfield at 1120 hours, and he had
immediately reassumed command of
the Far East Air Forces. However,
General Partridge, who would serve as
acting vice-commander of FEAF for
several days, attended the teleconfer-
ence with the Joint Chiefs at the Dai
Ichi building that afternoon. As Par-
tridge saw it, the United States at this
time “directed a major reversal of
policy.”

As soon as the teletypewriters which
had delivered the new instructions from
Washington went silent, General
MacArthur turned to Partridge with a
volley of oral orders. Success in Korea,
said MacArthur, depended largely upon
measures which would restore the
spirits of the army and people. He
wanted Partridge to get the Air Force
into action immediately. Far-reaching
results could be achieved if the air
effort could be made effective that
night and next day. He stressed again
and again that FEAF had to hit the
North Koreans with every resource at
its disposal during the next thirty-six
hours. He expressed a firm conviction
that vigorous air action would drive the
North Koreans back into their own
territory in disorder. MacArthur
approved Partridge’s proposal to move
the 19th Bombardment Group from
Guam to Kadena Air Base on Okinawa,
but he had a word of caution against
other unit movements. He warned that
FEAF must continue to defend Japan

against such actions as the Russians
might possibly undertake. When he
was finally done with Partridge,
General MacArthur had other deci-
sions. As CINCFE, he would assume
operational control over the Korean
Military Advisory Group. General
Church’s survey party would become a
command group and would serve as the
Advanced Echelon, General Headquar-
ters, Far East Command. To General
Partridge, General MacArthur appeared
“almost jubilant™ as the conference
ended.™

Operations staffs at every level in the
Far East Command now hurriedly
prepared and published orders. Up
until this time the Far East Command
had had no combat mission toward
Korea, and, consequently, it had no
contingent plan for such operations.
General MacArthur formally assumed
operational control of all American
military activities in Korea, such
control to be exercised through Brig.
Gen. John H. Church, who was
designated as chief, GHQ Advance
Command and Liaison Group in Korea
(GHQ ADCOM).”™ At 1800 hours
General MacArthur published his
operations instruction detailing the new
mission relative to Korea and Formosa.
FEAF was charged to attack and
destroy all North Korean troop concen-
trations, tanks, guns, supply elements,
and other military targets south of the
38th parallel; to prevent reinforcement
of North Korean military forces south
of the 38th parallel; and to continue
evacuation and supply missions to and
from Korea. FEAF was cautioned to
undertake no air operations north of
the 38th parallel, except in self-defense.
In another paragraph of these same
instructions the Naval Forces Far East
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F-80's move toward Communist frontline positicns

(NavFE) was charged to attack and
destroy all enemy vessels found in
Korean coastal waters south of the 38th
parallel; to destroy North Korean
invasion forces along the coasts of
South Korea; and to isolate Formosa
from the Chinese mainland. In yet
another paragraph the Eighth Army
was directed to support FEAF and
NavFE and to provide logistical
support to the Republic of Korea.s

At the Meiji building FEAF opera-
tions officers had not waited for the
formal CINCFE operations orders but
had been implementing General Mac-
Arthur’s verbal orders. To the Fifth Air
Force went instructions to dispatch
visual and photo reconnaissance sorties
to Korea. Another urgent message
directed the Fifth Air Force to make
B-26 attacks against the enemy all night
long on 27/28 June.# Next came a
schedule of missions for 28 Junc. The
Twentieth Air Force was ordered to

move all combat-ready B-29’s from
Guam to Kadena and to dispatch them
against such targets of opportunity as
assemblies of tanks, artillery, and
military columns.*> The Fifth Air Force
was directed to make extreme efforts
with two squadrons of B-26’s, four
squadrons of F-80’s, and two squadrons
of F-82°s. Targets were to be tanks,
artillery and military columns, supply
dumps, ground transport, bridges, and
moving traffic in the area between the
38th parallel and the front lines.®
During the evening of 27 June
General MacArthur laid another
operational task upon FEAFE NavFE
and the Eighth Army had been prepar-
ing to dispatch two vessels to Korea
with ammunition, but these waterborne
lifts would not get there soon enough.
Accordingly, FEAF would airlift 150
tons of ammunition from Tachikawa to
Suwon on 28 June and 200 tons per day
thereafter until about 1 July, when
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The Han River bridge near Seoul.

water transport would begin to take
effect. This airlift was primarily utilitar-
ian. but the CINCFE staff also rea-
soned that air shipments of ammunition
would demonstrate the immediacy of
American aid to Korea. The Eighth
Army would provide the ammunition
and operate the port of aerial embarka-
tion at Tachikawa. Receiving this
mission, the Fifth Air Force made the
commander of the 374th Troop Carrier
Wing responsible for all airlift to
Korea. and he was authorized to
arrange for fighter cover from the 8th
Fighter-Bomber Wing."

Before nightfall on 27 June the Fifth
Air Force made the deployments
required for the next day’s missions.
Four RF-80’s of the 8th Tactical
Reconnaissance Squadron (Photo Jet)
moved down from Yokota to Jtazuke.
The flight echelon of the 3d Bombard-
ment Group and the 13th Bomb
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Squadron moved from Johnson to join
the 8th Squadron at Ashiya.®s Because
of circumstances which it could not
control, however, the Fifth Air Force’s
execution of light bomber strikes
against Korea on the night of 27/28
June was somewhat disappointing. For
one thing, six of the 8th Squadron’s ten
B-26’s were flying continuous cover for
the refugee ship Reinholte, which was
still plodding along toward Fukuoka.
The other B-26’s were sent out from
Ashiya shortly before dark, with
instructions to find and attack a
Communist tank column reported to be
somewhere north of Seoul. Weather
and darkness forced these planes to
return to base without engaging the
enemy.te As daylight faded, low clouds
began to close in the airfield at Ashiya,
and the next B-26 mission could not
depart until 2032 hours. One of these
five planes aborted for mechanical



First Six Days

causes, but the other four went on to
Korea, only to find the battle area
blanketed by clouds.’”

The bad weather was beyond human
control, but the lack of results was
extremely annoying to Maj. Gen.
Edward M. Almond, who, as Mac-
Arthur’s chief of staff, was impressed
with the need for air action. During the
night Almond telephoned General
Partridge and several times, repeated
that in order to save the South Ko-
reans, FEAF would have to display’
visible supporting actions. Almond
stated that he “wanted bombs put on
the ground in the narrow corridor
between the 38th parallel and Seoul,
employing any means and without any
accuracy.” General Partridge called
Brig. Gen. Edward J. Timberlake,
deputy commander of the Fifth Air
Force, and General Kincaid and
spurred them “on to a full-out effort.”ss

On the morning of 28 June the
southward drifting polar weather front
stood over the airfields on Kyushu, but
the Fifth Air Force had to fly, weather
or no weather. Into the murky dawn
from Itazuke Lt. Bryce Poe II took off
alone in his RF-80A to reconnoiter and
photograph the vanguard of the NKPA.
Terminal weather at Itazuke was the
“foulest imaginable,” but Poe found
target weather in Korea to be clearing,
and he accomplished a successful
mission—the first reconnaissance sortie
of the Korean war and the first USAF
combat jet reconnaissance sortie of all
time.® The tactical weather report that
Poe brought back was encouraging. If
pilots could get airborne and then, at
the completion of their missions, get
back down through the low-lying
clouds for safe landings, they could fly
strikes to Korea.

Off from Ashiya at 0730 hours, a 3d
Bombardment Group strike force of 12
B-26’s bombed the busy railway yards
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up near the 38th parallel at Munsan,
and then the light bomber crews swept
southward at low level over the railway
and nearby highway, strafing and
rocketing targets of opportunity. This
tree-top high attack was costly to the
Reds, but hostile ground fire riddled
many of the B-26’s. One lost an engine
and set down at Suwon; a second
limped back to Ashiya where it had to
be junked; a third crew lost sight of the
weather-shrouded runway at Ashiya
and crashed, killing everyone aboard.
Later in the day the 3d Group sent out
another mission of 12 B-26’s. Three of
these planes aborted from mechanical
causes, but the others attacked road
and rail traffic north of Seoul.%

The B-26 light bombers had enough
fuel to let them take chances, but
prevailing 200-foot ceilings and limited
visibilities at Itazuke made F-80
operations risky. It was 310 miles from
Itazuke to the Han River, a distance
that stretched the range of the jet
interceptors. All of them would return
to base with little fuel. If they could
not find enough visibility to allow them
to land without delay, the pilots would
have to bail out and save themselves.
The risk was great, but in the middle of
the morning and again in the middle of
the afternoon Colonel Price dispatched
six flights of F-80’s, each of four
planes. North of Seoul the Shooting
Star pilots found the hunting good.
Road nets were crammed with North
Korean tanks, trucks, troops, and
artillery, and the F-80 pilots left fires
visible for 50 miles.*! In all, the F-82
squadrons flew 11 sorties to Korea
during the day. Most of these planes
flew top cover for the transports which
were landing at Suwon. One 68th
Squadron fighter developed mechanical
trouble and had to land at Suwon.

In the latter part of the afternoon
four B-29’s of the 19th Bombardment
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Group arrived over Korea. As they
were briefed to do, two of these
Superfortresses flew up the parallel
road and rail lines between Seoul and
Kapyong and the other two covered
similar arteries between Seoul and
Uijongbu. Each bomber crew toggled
out bombs against anything that looked
to be worth a bomb.% It was a strange
employment for the strategic bombers,
but General MacArthur had called for a
maximum show of force.

The American embassy in Korea
liked the strikes which FEAF flew on
28 June, but, for the following day, it
suggested that FEAF center its attacks
in the vicinity of Seoul. Even if there
were no worthwhile objectives, the
embassy believed that constant visual
display of American airpower was
“fundamental” if ROK troops on the
south banks of the Han were to hold
their ground.** But while FEAF was
flying “morale” attacks, the North
Korean Air Force was having a field
day. At about 1330 hours on 28 June
four Yaks strafed Suwon Airfield,
disabling the F-82 and B-26 which had
been forced to land there. At about
1830 hours six other Yaks, working in
pairs, appeared over Suwon. They
jumped a 6th Troop Carrier Squadron
C-54 in the landing pattern and sieved
the transport before its pilot could hit
the deck and head back to Ashiya for
an emergency landing. These same
Yaks caught a 22d Troop Carrier
Squadron C-54 on the ground and
destroyed it.»s From Taejon Ambassa-
dor Muccio warned General Strate-
meyer not to land any more transports
at Suwon unless fighter cover was
overhead.%

So far the Far East Command had no
definite plan of action for its operations
in Korea, but Brig. Gen. John H.
Church’s ADCOM group was beginning
to function. After dark, on 27 June, the
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ADCOM group landed at Suwon and
proceeded into the town of Suwon to
establish its command post in a school
building, which already sheltered the
headquarters of the ROK Army. First
reports from the Korean commander
were not good. He had lost about 40
percent of his troops, the major portion
of his automatic weapons, and most of
his few artillery pieces. Although the
ROK commander did not know exactly
where his units were, the ADCOM
group posted a situation map indicating
where the ROK troops were believed
to be.%

The fate of South Korea looked
gloomy, but General Church saw some
ray of hope. He thought that the South
Korean troops were as good as the
North Koreans, the major difference
being that the latter had the initiative.
If the ROK’s could be made to hold
anywhere, it would be behind the
shelter of the broad and swiftly flowing
Han River. This line would have to be
held. General Church therefore an-
nounced his intention to keep ADCOM
at Suwon. This location was convenient
to the Han battle line and was also the
last remaining airfield in central Korea.
On the negative side, Suwon had no
communications with the outside
world. To make telephone calls to
Tokyo, General Church had to drive
about 17 miles south of Suwon to a
telephone relay station. Although he
used this line, it was not secure against
possible wire taps.’® Sometime on 28
June ADCOM secured a high-frequency
radio which had belonged to KMAG,
only to find that the assistance group
had destroyed its codes. The only
cryptographic device immediately at
hand was Mr. Muccio’s State Depart-
ment code, and messages so encoded
would have to go all the way to
Washington for decoding and retrans-
mission to Tokyo.%



First Six Days

A young USAF officer, Lt. Col. John
McGinn, was one of the most active
members of the ADCOM group. Early
on the morning of 28 June, when
transport aircraft began to land at
Suwon, Colonel McGinn went to the
airfield, rounded up some trucks and
Korean laborers, and began to organize
the Suwon airhead. During the morning
General Timberlake sent from Ashiya a
battery of quadruple-mounted .50-
caliber machine guns, served by a
detachment of men from the 507th
Antiaircraft Artillery Battalion, and a
tactical air-control party, with two very
high-frequency radio jeeps. The VHF
radios did not have enough range to
reach back to Japan, but McGinn put
one of them to work controlling air
traffic and used the other to communi-
cate targets to fighters which circled
above Suwon. To get these targets,
McGinn drove the six miles separating
the airfield from the command post,
studied the Korean situation map in
General Church’s office, and selected
likely looking objectives several miles
out in front of known ROK positions.
Recognizing the security violation
involved, McGinn broadcasted several
of the targets in the clear to fighters
overhead. He also wrote target descrip-
tions (he had no American maps) and
gave them to transport pilots to carry
back to Itazuke. Late in the afternoon
Warrant Officer Donald Nichols
appeared at Suwon with several
recommended air targets. At Ambassa-
dor Muccio’s request, Nichols was now
maintaining personal liaison with the
ROK chiefs of staff. His air targets
included the Seoul main railway
station, the former American motor
pool in Seoul where 30 Communist
tanks were reported to be parked, and
an enemy propaganda radio transmitter
in Seoul. Nichols had already anno-
tated the locations of these targets on
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Korean maps, and McGinn sent them
back to Itazuke by a departing
transport. 1%

At about 0300 hours on 29 June
General Church awakened Colonel
McGinn with a request that he arrange
a B-29 strike against the Han River
bridges at Seoul and Communist troops
massing on the north bank of the river,
if possible before dawn. The retreating
ROK’s had blown the highway bridge
but they had left one railway bridge
intact. McGinn explained that it would
be impossible to divert any B-29’s on
such short notice and with such
inadequate communications, but he
nevertheless used the State Department
code and radioed a request to
CINCFE.» At approximately the same
hour the Superfortresses were taking
off from their base at Kadena, under
instructions to destroy the buildings
and facilities at Kimpo Airfield and the
main railway station in Seoul. Had
anyone in Tokyo known of General
Church’s request, the B-29’s might have
used their demolition bombs against the
Han bridges (although the diversion of
a medium bomber strike, once briefed
and en route to a target, is seldom
productive of good results), but Mc-
Ginn’s message did not reach FEAF
until 1255 hours on 29 June.102 At 0800
hours that morning nine 19th Group
B-29’s had walked their 500-pound
bombs across Kimpo. The bombing,
done from altitudes as low as 3,000
feet, was excellent. Two Yaks and an
unidentified fighter contested the
attack, but B-29 gunners shot down one
of the Yaks and sent the unidentified
plane away trailing smoke. While the
larger formation was attacking Kimpo
two other B-29’s bombed the main
railway station at Seoul. According to a
Central Intelligence Agency report, this
attack killed or wounded a large
number of North Korean troops. 13
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In his airintent statement for 29 June
General Stratemeyer had announced
that the B-26 light bombers would give
close support to the ROK ground
troops. As soon as the Han bridge
requirement was made known, the
Fifth Air Force accordingly sent the
light bombers against the objective.
These planes tore up the flooring which
the Reds were laying on the center
bridge of the three parallel Han railway
bridges. During the day the Fifth Air
Force was able to fly 22 other sorties in
direct support of ROK ground troops.
Once again Colonel McGinn handled
this direct support with finesse. As he
had asked. the 8th Wing sent Lieuten-
ant Moran to Suwon early in the
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morning. Moran landed his F-82, and
he and his radar operator went with
McGinn to General Church’s office
where they sketched an overlay of the
ADCOM situation map. Moran took
the overlay back to Itazuke, where,
during the remainder of the day. it
served to indicate the locations of
friendly and hostile ground troops.
Since other aircraft were occupied, the
F-82 fighters gave most of the close
support that was flown. For the first
time in Korea the 68th Squadron
attacked with napalm, using jettison-
able fuel tanks as fire bombs against
hostile ground positions.'*

In deference to the Communist air
threat, the 8th Fighter-Bomber Wing

Sgt. Glenn Roush and Capt. Gail Farnham, Tactical Air Control Party. transmit information to fighters

overhead.
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used its F-80 fighters in a novel em-
ployment. Fully loaded with .50-caliber
ammunition (but carrying no external
bombs or rockets), the F-80's flew to
the Han and established patrol orbits at
10,000 feet. They remained on these
stations for fifteen to twenty minutes,
and if enemy aircraft appeared they
engaged them. If not, the F-80’s
swooped over Seoul and made one or
two passes against hostile road traffic
before returning to Itazuke. During the
day Red pilots made (or attempted to
make) six strafing and bombing attacks
against Suwon Airfield. one of which
was mounted by six Yaks. Most of
these attacks were thwarted by the jet
fighter patrols, and during the morning
Lieutenants William T. Norris and Roy
W. Marsh shot down an LA-7 and an
IL-10, each pilot scoring one victory.
But at another hour no friendly fighters
were overhead, and a Communist
bombing strike hit and completely
destroyed a C-54 transport.!0s

As an experienced air commander
General Stratemeyer knew quite well
that the first task of tactical airpower is
to destroy the enemy air force and
attain friendly air superiority, but his
orders had not permitted him to deal
effectively with the North Korean Air
Force. Now the enemy air threat was
getting out of hand, and on the after-
noon of 29 June General MacArthur
wanted to fly to Suwon to get a first-
hand view of the ground fighting.
Recognizing the risk involved, the 8th
Fighter-Bomber Wing scheduled a
heavy screen of F-80’s for the Bataan
(MacArthur’s C-54) and pressed into
escorting service a flight of F-51
Mustangs which it was preparing to
turn over to ROK pilots. It was well
that the Mustangs had come, for while
MacArthur was in conference at the
Suwon schoolhouse four Yaks ap-
proached undetected through scattered
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clouds and attempted to attack Suwon
Airfield. All the conferees went outsidc
to watch the air fight. The Yaks
appeared slightly more maneuverable.
but the Mustangs were faster. As a
result, Lt. Orrin R. Fox (80th Squad-
ron) scored two kills and Richard J.
Burns (35th Squadron) and Harry T.
Sandlin (80th Squadron) cach shot
down a Yak.te

General MacArthur was forcibly
impressed with the importance of
establishing a general air superiority in
Korea. “*North Korea air, operating
from nearby bases.” he subsequently
informed the Joint Chiefs, “has been
savage in its attacks in the Suwon
area.” w7 General Stratemeyer, who was
a member of the MacArthur party,

An Army paratrooper coordinates a field
problem after being dropped by FEAF Combat
Cargo planes in Korea
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added another cogent argument:
constant aerial cover was exhausting
air effort which might otherwise have
served combat purposes. Stratemeyer
also pointed out that in order to get
control of the air he would have to be
cleared to attack Communist airfields in
North Korea. Deeming the emergency
grave enough to justify his action,
MacArthur verbally authorized Strate-
meyer to commence air attacks against
enemy airfields north of the 38th
parallel. 08

Almost as soon as American planes
were permitted to enter North Korea,
the 8th Tactical Reconnaissance
Squadron began to fly photo cover of
all known North Korean airfields. !0
But in the late afternoon of 29 June
these hostile airfields were not ade-
quately targeted. Notwithstanding the
lack of target information and of
needed bombing tables, the 3d Bom-
bardment Group at 1615 hours sent 18
B-26’s to attack the enemy’s main
military airfield at Pyongyang. Arriving
unannounced just before dusk, the light
bombers placed their fragmentation
bombs along the hangar line, ramps,
and revetment areas. Only one Yak-3
opposed the attack, and it was shot
down by S/Sgt. Nyle S. Mickley, a
gunner aboard one of the light bomb-
ers. Bombing results were described as
excellent, and the 3d Group estimated
that the raid destroyed 25 enemy
aircraft on the ground.!i To its other
laurels the 3d Bombardment Group
added the distinction of being the first
air unit to attack into North Korean
territory.

Back in Tokyo during the early
evening of 29 June FEAF operations
officers were planning and ordering the
next day’s air missions. In recognition
of the gravity of the ground situation,
Fifth Air Force aircraft would continue
to provide local air superiority and
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support for the ROK ground troops. In
recognition of the enemy air threat, the
Twentieth Air Force was directed to
send its B-29’s against hostile aircraft at
Wonsan Airfield.!"" In the early morn-
ing hours of 30 June these operations
orders had to be changed. Shortly after
midnight General Church established
secure communications into Tokyo,
and he was insistent that the B-29’s
ought to attack the Han bridges and
the enemy troops massing on the
north bank of that river. The question
now was whether or not, and how
soon, the 19th Bombardment Group
could change its force preparations
from those made to attack the airfield
at Wonsan to those required to hit
troops and bridges at Seoul. The air
echelon of the 19th Group had just
completed a 1,200-mile change of
station, and it had been able to bring to
Kadena only a few maintenance and
service personnel.!'2 The B-29’s were
already loaded with 260-pound frag-
mentation bombs; to unload and reload
the bombers with other ordnance would
take a miminum of six hours.!* The
frags would be useless against bridges,
but they would serve antipersonnel
purposes. FEAF therefore directed the
Twentieth Air Force to scratch the
Wonsan strike and to attack troop
concentrations and landing craft along
the north bank of the Han River east
and west of Seoul.4

As a result of the change in opera-
tions orders, nearly all of FEAF’s air
effort on 30 June was again employed
against targets of opportunity north of
the Han River. At intervals during the
morning 15 B-29’s strewed frag bombs
on enemy troops along the river. The
results of these attacks remained
“unknown” to FEAEFE but one of
General Church’s officers told him that
the strikes ““were too distant from the
river to be effective.”!!s The 3d Bom-
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bardment Group sent 18 B-26 sorties to
strafe, bomb, and rocket enemy traffic
and troops in and around Seoul. One
flight from the 13th Squadron, checking
the status of the Seoul railway bridges
early in the morning, discovered North
Korean tanks, trucks, and other
vehicles jammed up bumper to bumper,
waiting to cross the center rail bridge.
These vehicles could not go forward
because the Reds had not finished the
wooden decking and they were parked
too close together to escape rearward.
The B-26 flight swept in, wing to wing,
using all of their offensive weapons in
one murderous pass. All of the crews
agreed that this strike must have hurt
the Reds badly.s

The Shooting Star jet fighters from
Itazuke continued to exploit the
combined air-patrol and ground-attack
tactics which they had devised and
used the day before. Few enemy
aircraft made an appearance, but Lt.
Charles A. Wurster and Lt. John B.
Thomas of the 36th Squadron bounced
two Yak-9’s and each destroyed one of
the hostile planes. The strafing passes,
flown by the F-80’s after they com-
pleted their air patrols, usually ac-
counted for several trucks or similar
moving targets, and the speedy jets got
in and away before the enemy hardly
knew it. One unlucky pilot, however,
flew through an electrical power line
which left him just enough wing to get
back to Suwon and bail out.!'” From
his station at Suwon Airfield Colonel
McGinn continued to manage air
strikes in support of the South
Koreans. Early in the morning a
courier aircraft brought him gridded
maps of Korea which had been printed
in response to a request he had made
two days earlier. The crews leaving
Itazuke and Ashiya also carried these
maps, and when McGinn had a sup-
porting target he could call it out in
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grid coordinates. The maps were small
scale, making it difficult to pinpoint the
target, but the grid procedure was
better than passing targets over the
radio in the clear. Working as he was,
almost single-handed, Colonel McGinn
could not provide many close-support
targets. During the day only 25 such
sorties were flown in support of the
ROK’s.118 Perceiving that McGinn
needed assistance, FEAF directed the
Fifth Air Force to establish in Korea,
probably at Suwon, a tactical air-
direction center, which could control
tactical air operations in the forward
areas.!®

But time was rapidly running out for
the Americans at Suwon. Late on the
afternoon of 30 June ADCOM received
reports that the South Korean defenses
along the Han River were crumbling.
The Reds had not been able to cross
the Han bridges, but they had ferried
tanks and troops across the river
southeast of Seoul.'20 A little after 1700
hours Colonel McGinn was summoned
to the schoolhouse headquarters in
Suwon. General Church was not
present (he was at the relay station
making a telephone call to Tokyo), but
his second-in-command informed all
present that ADCOM would have to
evacuate. All cryptographic material
was destroyed, and everyone moved
out to Suwon Airfield, where they were
joined at approximately 2140 hours by
General Church and Mr. Muccio.
General Church was at first reluctant to
leave Suwon, but after a discussion he
directed that ADCOM would proceed
southward by vehicle to Taejon, and
there establish a new command post.
Colonel McGinn then drove out onto
the Suwon strip in one of the air-
control jeeps and warned away two
C-47’s which were trying to land. He
knew that he should burn the damaged
aircraft parked alongside the strip, but
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by this time a large number of Koreans
had gathered at the airfield’s gate. In
the dark, no one knew whether they
were friendly or hostile. Either way,
McGinn reasoned, the Koreans would
likely resist if he tried to burn the
damaged airplanes. If they were
ROK’s, they would assume that he was
an enemy agent; if they were Reds,
they would shoot to try to save the
planes for capture. McGinn therefore
left the damaged planes as they were
and formed up as a part of the AD-
COM convoy.

As the American vehicles ran
through Suwon’s gate they met a
desultory fire from among the crowd of
Koreans, but no one was hurt. The
antiaircraft artillery team served as rear
guard for the column as it drove
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uneventfully southward through the
rain to Taejon. Here all personnel
assembled in KMAG’s dependent
housing area, dried their clothing, and
made a head count. All Air Force
people were present except one
sergeant, and he hitch-hiked in the next
day with the explanation that he had
been asleep in a building at the airstrip
and had waked the next morning to
find everyone gone.!'2! During the
darkness, when the evacuation from
Suwon was taking place, it had seemed
that North Koreans were all around,
but actually the enemy did not get to
the airfield in any strength until 2 July.
In this interim period the OSI agent,
Donald Nichols, went back to Suwon
with a party of Koreans and destroyed
the damaged planes left there.!2

6. New Decisions from Washington

In Washington, on Thursday, 29
June, top government and military
officials were gravely concerned about
Korea. Diplomatic soundings indicated
that the Kremlin would not openly
intervene in the Korean fighting, but
the news from Korea was progressively
worse. At 0700 hours, Washington
time, a teleconference with Tokyo
brought the Pentagon up to date on the
latest estimates. The ROK Army had
sustained up to 50 percent casualties.
Whether it could hold the Han line was
problematical. If this natural defense
line was broken, the next defenses
would form east and west across
Korea, roughly along the 36th parallel,
slightly north of the city of Taegu. In
such event the port and airfield at the
coastal city of Pusan would be the main

supply base, and FEAF would expect
to use the Pusan Airfield as its main
base and the strip at Taegu as an
alternate airfield.'>? New American
decisions were necessary, and at about
noon Secretary of Defense Louis
Johnson requested President Truman to
schedule another top-level meeting
concerning Korea,

The National Security Council, plus
most of the other officials who had
attended the Blair House conferences,
assembled at 1700 hours, 29 June, in
the White House. Here Secretary
Johnson presented a proposed directive
designed to broaden and supplement
General MacArthur’s instructions. He
explained that FEAF and NavFE were
hampered by the restriction which
confined their attacks to South Korea.
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His directive accordingly authorized
MacArthur to extend air operations
into North Korea against airfields, tank
farms, troop columns, and such other
military targets as were essential to the
purpose of clearing South Korea of
hostile forces and preventing unneces-
sary friendly casualties. Air operations,
however, were to stay well clear of the
borders of Manchuria and Siberia.
Johnson then explained that it was
necessary for the United States to
secure a firm foothold in Korea, both
to assist the Republic and, if worse
came to worse, to insure the evacua-
tion of all American nationals. There-
fore, his directive permitted MacArthur
to send to Korea such Army combat
and service troops as were required to
insure the retention of the ports and
airfields at Pusan and Chinhae. The
decision to send American troops to
the port areas of southern Korea did
not authorize their use in active ground
combat. President Truman stated flatly
that he would want to consider care-
fully with his top advisors before
authorizing the introduction of Ameri-
can combat troops into the battle area.
President Truman approved the direc-
tive, subject only to the rewording of a
last item which told MacArthur what to
do in the event of overt Russian
intervention.124

The additional orders from the Joint
Chiefs of Staff reached Tokyo after
daylight on 30 June, and FEAF viewed
them as a step in the right direction.
North of the 38th parallel the enemy
had accumulated supplies, assembled
troop units, and launched his invasion
forces without any opposition. For
three days these hostile concentrations
had been wide open to air attack, but
FEAF had not been authorized to
punish the enemy in his own territory.
Had the air offensive against targets in
North Korea been permitted earlier,
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FEAF believed that a relatively small
effort “could have affected profoundly
the Communists’ ability to proceed
with the war, and may well have
induced their leaders to reassess the
whole business as a rotten
enterprise.” 125 On 30 June General
MacArthur authorized Stratemeyer to
extend his air operations into North
Korea “against air bases, depots, tank
farms, troop columns, and other purely
military targets such as key bridges and
highway or railway critical points.”
MacArthur enjoined Stratemeyer to
exercise especial care to insure that air
operations were kept “well clear of the
frontiers of Manchuria and the Soviet
Union.” 126

The new directive from Washington
broadened the horizons of air opera-
tions, but it did not give General
MacArthur the authority to employ
American Army troops in ground
combat, an authority which he now
desired. While at Suwon on the after-
noon of 29 June General MacArthur
had driven up the Seoul road to inspect
ROK defenses along the Han. Before
leaving Suwon he had told the ADCOM
staff that he wanted the South Koreans
to hold on at the Han until he could get
some American ground troops into the
area.’?” Upon returning to Tokyo
MacArthur had written a long message
reporting his findings to the Joint
Chiefs. The South Korean army, he
said, was down to not more than 25,000
effective soldiers. It was in confusion,
had not seriously fought, and lacked
leadership. A lightly armed force in the
beginning, the ROK Army had made
no plans for defense in depth and had
lost many of its supplies and heavier
equipment during its retreat. Now, at
best, the South Koreans could only
hope to fight behind natural barriers
and to retard the North Korean
advance. Whether they could hold the
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Han River line was “highly
problematical.”

After this report of his observations
General MacArthur made his recom-
mendations. His only assurance of
holding the Han line, and of later
regaining lost ground, lay in the
introduction of American ground
combat forces into the Korean battle
area. If authorized to do so, MacArthur
intended immediately to move an
American regimental combat team to
reinforce the vital Suwon-Seoul area.
He would then provide for a possible
build-up of two divisions from troops in
Japan for an early counteroffensive.
“Unless provision is made for full
utilization of the Army-Navy-Air team
in this shattered area,” said MacArthur,
“our mission will at best be needlessly
costly in life, money, and prestige. At
worst, it might even be doomed to
failure.” 128

The message bearing General Mac-
Arthur’s estimates and recommenda-
tions was apparently written prior to
his receipt of the new directive from
the Joint Chiefs. At any rate, Mac-
Arthur’s message reached the Pentagon
at approximately 0300 hours, 30 June,
Washington time. General Collins at
once undertook to establish a telecon-
ference with the Far East, and not
many minutes elapsed before the
consultation was in progress. General
Collins explained that MacArthur’s
recommendations would require Mr.
Truman’s approval, and he added that
the President would want to consider
them carefully. Would not the new JCS
directive serve MacArthur’s purposes?
MacArthur replied that the new
directive did not give him sufficient
latitude for effective ground operations.
Already the Reds were breaking across
the Han east of Seoul, and they were
repairing the Seoul bridges as fast as
FEAF’s air opposition would permit.
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Perhaps it was already too late to save
the Suwon airhead. “Time is of the
essence,” said MacArthur, “and a
clear-cut decision without delay is
imperative.” At this juncture General
Collins stepped outside the telecon
room and telephoned the problem to
Army Secretary Frank Pace. Secretary
Pace telephoned President Truman.
When MacArthur’s urgent message was
repeated to him, Truman immediately
authorized MacArthur to move one
regimental combat team to the combat
area. Within a few hours he promised
to give a decision on the additional
build-up to two divisions in Korea.
Back in the Pentagon, the teleconfer-
ence was still in progress, and before it
ended General MacArthur received
authority to dispatch the regimental
combat team to Korea. 129

In the Far East General MacArthur
lost no time directing the Eighth Army
to begin to move Maj. Gen. William F
Dean’s 24th Infantry Division from
Kyushu to Pusan by air and water. He
ordered FEAF to prepare to airlift the
headquarters and two rifle companies
of the 24th Division into either Suwon
or Pusan.'* Back in Washington, at
0930 hours on 30 June, the Secretaries
of the Army, Navy, and Air Force and
the Chiefs of Staff met President
Truman in his White House office.
After a thirty-minute discussion,
President Truman approved two orders.
The first authorized General MacArthur
to employ in Korea such Army forces
as he had available, subject only to the
requirements for the safety of Japan.
The other, suggested by Admiral
Sherman, established a naval blockade
of North Korea.3! President Truman
thus authorized what MacArthur had
requested: “full utilization of the Army-
Navy-Air team.” The United States
was going to war in defense of the
Republic of Korea.
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Gen. Douglas MacArthur discusses Inchon landings with aides
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2. Plans and Preparations

1. The United Nations Command Takes Shape

The United Nations’ decision to
resist aggression in Korea with armed
force posed new and complex problems
to a world organization which lacked
any staff capable of directing military
operations and possessed no interna-
tional police force. Looking toward an
answer to both of these deficiencies on
3 July 1950, Secretary General Trygve
Lie circulated a draft resolution which
he hoped the Security Council might be
willing to adopt. This resolution
requested the United States to assume
the responsibility for directing such
armed forces as United Nations
member states might furnish in re-
sponse to the resolution of 27 June. It
also proposed to establish a “Commit-
tee on Coordination of Assistance for
Korea.” Lie urged that this committee
was necessary both to stimulate and
coordinate offers of assistance and to
provide some measure of supervision
for the United Nations military security
action in Korea. Lie suggested that the
members of the committee would
represent the nations who furnished
troops to fight in Korea. Delegates of
Britain, France, and Norway liked the
idea of the supervisory committee, but
Lie recorded that the United States
“promptly turned thumbs down.”!

While Lie was circulating his draft
resolution, the American Departments
of State and Defense were jointly
preparing another draft resolution,
which accepted the essence of Lie’s
proposal less the provision for the
committee on coordination. The
American resolution was adopted by
the Security Council on 7 July. It
established a unified command under
the President of the United States;

designated the United States as the
executive agent for matters dealing
with the Korean conflict; and requested
the President to appoint a commander
for the United Nations forces.2 On 8
July President Truman named General
MacArthur “as commander of military
forces assisting the Republic of Korea
which are placed under the unified
command of the United States by
members of the United Nations.”>
Several days later, in deference to
world-wide political reasons, Washing-
ton advised MacArthur that, whenever
practicable, he should identify himself
as “Commander in Chief of United
Nations Forces.” On 24 July General
MacArthur formally established the
United Nations Command (UNC) and
assumed the duties of Commander-in-
Chief, United Nations Command
(CINCUNC).#

Establishment of the United Nations
Command gave recognition to the fact
that nations other than the United
States were fighting to repel aggression
in Korea. As a working organization,
however, the United Nations Command
lacked significance. General MacArthur
merely assumed another title, becoming
CINCUNC as well as CINCFE, and
General Headquarters, Far East
Command, was additionally designated
General Headquarters, United Nations
Command, the whole establishment
being neatly abbreviated as GHQ UNC/
FEC. The CINCUNC did not report
directly to the United Nations but to
the President of the United States,
through the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff.
MacArthur’s instructions were issued
by the Joint Chiefs, in coordination
with the Department of State and
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subject to the approval of the Presi-
dent.* United Nations troops or other
military units were attached for opera-
tional control to appropriate United
States military organizations in Korea.
These arrangements were reasonable
when viewed against the fact that the
United States furnished a preponderant
share of the military effort, but they
had their drawbacks. Many members of
the United Nations, observing that
Washington was directing the military
operations, were content to allow the
United States to carry the burden of
providing the forces needed by the
United Nations cause.s

Before the Korean war was many
months old the United States began to
know some of the many problems
inherent in its role as the executive
agent of the United Nations. During the
first several months of hostilities the
only official guidance given by the
United Nations to operations in Korea
was the Security Council resolution of
27 June, which recommended that
member nations “furnish such assist-
ance to the Republic of Korea as may
be necessary to repel the invasion and
restore international peace and security
within the area.” Whether this resolu-
tion authorized United Nations forces
to enter and liberate North Korea was
uncertain. On 30 June 1950 the U.S.
Department of State, noting that
United Nations political and military
objectives were distinct and separate,
advised General MacArthur to make it
Clear that American military effort in
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Korea was intended solely to restore
the ROK to its territorial status as of
25 June 1950.s Again on 14 July, after
press reports had quoted Syngman
Rhee as voicing a firm determination
that ROK troops would not stop at the
38th parallel when they returned
northward, the State Department
warned Ambassador Muccio that “all
statements on this delicate question
should be avoided.”” During the
summer of 1950 this indecision as to
the military objective made little matter
to the ground strategy, for friendly
ground troops were retreating south-
ward. But the indecision greatly
complicated the task of air planners,
who desired to balance the destruction
of hostile industrial targets against
some foreknowledge as to whether
such plants would be rebuilt during a
friendly occupation of North Korea.s
As the United Nations’ executive
agent, the United States bore the
responsibility for providing CINCUNC
with the policy statements that he
required to conduct military operations
in Korea. But the United States
government was not free to devise the
military policies which would be
followed in Korea. Such policies had to
be acceptable to the other United
Nations’ members who actively sup-
ported the cause. From the beginning
of the Korean hostilities, the United
States and the other members of the
United Nations who extended support
to the Republic of Korea held to the
basic policy that the local Korean war

*Although they normally issued the directives to the Commander of the United Nations Command/Far East
Command, the Joint Chiefs of Staff did not necessarily originate the directives, nor did the directives necessarily
represent the attitudes or actions of the Joint Chiefs. (Memo for Chief Air University Historical Liaison Office from
Mr. Wilbur W. Hoare, Jr., historian, the Joint Chiefs of Staff, subj: Comments on Manuscript: “The United States Air
Force in Korea,” 17 Nov. 1959.) The National Security Council had been legally established in 1947 to serve as an
advisory body to the President for the integration of domestic, foreign, and military policies relating to the national
security of the United States. Through the medium of the National Security Council and of intimate State-Defense
consultations, the departments of State and Defense developed progressively closer cooperation and coordination as
the Korean war continued. (See William R. Kintner, Joseph 1. Coffey, and Raymond J. Albright, Forging a New
Sword, A Study of the Department of Defense (New York: Harper & Brothers, 1958), pp. 24-93.)
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must not be allowed to spread beyond
the confines of Korea. “The whole
effort of our policy is to prevent
[general] war and not have it occur,”
stated Secretary Acheson. “Qur
allies,” he added, “believe this just as
much as we believe it, and their
immediate danger is much greater than
ours because if general war broke out
they would be in a most exposed and
dangerous position.”® “Our view,”
wrote Great Britain’s Prime Minister
Clement R. Attlee, “had always been
that the Far Eastern war should be
confined to Korea and that it would be
a great mistake to have large forces
committed to a major campaign in
Asia.”10

The policy of limiting hostilities to
Korea was productive of many politico-
military restrictions upon military
operations within Korea, restrictions
which Secretary of Defense George C.
Marshall said were the result of “an
intermingling...of political necessities
along with military directions.” Secre-
tary Marshall explained that these
restrictions were necessary not only for
the security of the United States but
“to avoid a break with our allies and a
complete confusion in our relations to
the United Nations.”" Most of these
restrictions dealt with the employment
of UNC airpower. At the National
Security Council meeting on 29 June
Secretary Acheson was willing that
American air operations should extend
into North Korea but he requested that
precautions be taken to ensure that air
operations did not go beyond the
boundaries of Korea. Thus on 30 June
General MacArthur enjoined Strate-
meyer to take “special care...to insure
that your operations in Northern Korea
stay well clear of the frontiers of
Manchuria and the Soviet Union.”
After a State-Defense conference in
Washington, Secretary of Air Force
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Thomas K. Finletter, on 2 July, directed
USAF “to stress the importance of
briefing all our air crews so that there
is no chance of attacking targets
beyond the North Korea area.”'s The
sanctity of the borders of Manchuria
and Siberia was thus established at the
outset of Korean hostilities, and the
rule would never be relaxed. In fact,
after a few inadvertent violations of the
borders by wandering airmen, the
restrictions would be significantly
tightened in the autumn of 1950.
Another category of politico-military
restrictions had its origin in an unstated
but very real policy which sought to
maintain “humanitarian” standards in
the United Nations’ war effort. In 1949,
during the course of a congressional
investigation of the United States
national defense program, certain
critics of airpower had made a case for
the moral wrong of massed air bom-
bardment. “War itself is immoral,”
General Omar Bradley, chairman of the
Joint Chiefs of Staff, had declared in
rebuttal. But he had pledged that “we
Americans will seek to achieve maxi-
mum effectiveness against the enemy’s
armed forces, with a minimum harm to
the nonparticipating civilian
populace.”* On 29 June 1950, when
the National Security Council discussed
air operations in North Korea, Presi-
dent Truman stated that he wanted to
be sure that the bombardment of North
Korea was “not indiscriminate.”’s As a
result of the President’s concern, the
directive which General Stratemeyer
received on 30 June specified that
FEAF would attack “purely military
targets” in North Korea.'s These
humanitarian ideals were reinforced by
criticisms which sporadically appeared
in the world’s press. In August 1950 an
Indian newspaper recalled that during
World War II “Americans and other
western people showed special solici-
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tude toward the European enemy, but
adopted different codes of conduct in
Japan and elsewhere in the East,
culminating in the choice of Japanese
towns as targets for the first atom
bombs.” Secretary Acheson officially
invited General MacArthur’s attention
to this statement.!” To the end of the
Korean war FEAF would be bound by
a rule which was finally stated in this
language: “Every effort will be made to
attack military targets only, and to
avoid needless civilian casualties.” 18
Many of the politico-military restric-
tions which stemmed from United
Nations’ humanitarian motives were
not precisely defined but were usually
manifest by some higher authority’s
disapproval of suggested operations.
Early in August 1950 FEAF planners
calculated that the B-29’s could most
efficiently destroy North Korean
industrial targets with incendiary
bombs. Use of incendiaries, coupled
with radar aiming, would permit day or
night attacks in any weather, and the
destruction of urban areas adjoining
industrial plants would erode the
morale of the North Korean people and
undermine their obedience to the
Communist government.'® Washington,
however, desired no unnecessary
civilian casualties which might come
from fire attacks and was unwilling to
sanction an “‘indiscriminate” use of
incendiaries.? At the end of September
1950, when the war was going badly for
the Communists, General Stratemeyer
proposed that FEAF should send a
massive force of 100 B-29’s to clean out
military targets in Pyongyang. General
MacArthur saw no reason why such a
massed attack could not be undertaken
against military objectives, but the
Joint Chiefs had a different view.
“Because of the serious political
implications involved,” they informed
MacArthur, “it is desired that you
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advise the Joint Chiefs of Staff, for
clearance with higher authority, of any
plans you may have before you order
or authorize such an attack or attacks
of a similar nature.”2! As a matter of
policy, the Joint Chiefs of Staff would
generally disapprove massed air
attacks, even against military targets, if
such attacks could be possibly inter-
preted to be against the civilian
population of North Korea.

As the war went on and military
situations changed in Korea, United
Nations’ military objectives and
policies would require modification to
meet unforeseen circumstances. Yet, in
the absence of any United Nations
mechanism capable of giving continuing
guidance to the war effort in Korea,
these objectives and policies would be
difficult to change. In June 1950 the
United Nations Security Council had
been able to act swiftly because the
Russian delegate was boycotting its
meetings, but in August 1950 the
Russian representative resumed his seat
and thereafter prevented the council
from taking cognizance of Korean
problems. Such additional objectives as
the United Nations was to provide
would have to be given by its General
Assembly, and then only after lengthy
discussion and debate.

Since the policies and politico-
military restrictions which governed
military operations in Korea repre-
sented a consensus of the nations who
contributed to the United Nations
Command, any change or modification
of these ground rules had to be negoti-
ated through none-too-swift diplomatic
channels. Not only were the policies
and restrictions difficult to change, but
the existence of unwritten policies lent
an air of uncertainty to planning at
every command level. A vague under-
standing that certain targets were
“sensitive” and that certain tactics
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possessed ‘‘far-reaching political
implications™ compelled the
CINCUNC to seek decisions from
Washington authorities, who not
infrequently had to coordinate their
opinions with Downing Street, the Quai
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d’Orsay, and other friendly foreign
offices before returning an answer. In a
thermonuclear age., when immediate
decisions are imperative for survival,
this was a slow and hazardous way to
manage a war.

Cpl. Duane S. Holdren, Fifth Air Force, 452d Bomb Wing. wipes a few specks of dust from the

camera “eye” of a B-26 Invader.



44

U.S. Air Force in Korea

2. Armed-Force Relationships in the Far East

Before the Korean hostilities were
concluded they would provide a
combat test for the principles of armed-
force unification which the United
States had adopted after World War 1.
The National Security Act of 1947 had
provided for the unification of the
armed services of the United States in
a departmental agency originally called
the National Military Establishment
and after 1949 the Department of
Defense. Under the Department of
Defense were three independent
military departments and armed
services: Army, Navy, and Air Forces.
Policy guidance papers had foreseen
that combat forces of each of these
armed services would normally be
found in geographical theaters of
operations, and each service had been
assigned roles and functions which its
forces would perform. A theater
commander was expected to stand
separately from his own service and to
provide the command authority over
the theater ground, sea, and air forces,
which would cooperatively employ
their capabilities to attain the theater
mission.

Looking toward the accomplishment
of armed-force unification, the Joint
Chiefs of Staff had dispatched on 14
December 1946 a directive to all theater
commanders which required these
unified commanders to establish a
“joint staff with appropriate members
from the various components of the
services...in key positions of responsi-
bility.”22 Such a joint staff would
provide the theater commander with
the specialized knowledge and advice
which he needed in order to employ his
ground, naval, and air forces in a
common war against an enemy.

Nearly three years elapsed before

General MacArthur took cognizance of
this directive, and then, on 20 August
1949, he established a Joint Strategic
Plans and Operations Group (JSPOG)
under the Assistant Chief of Staff for
Operations (G-3) of GHQ Far East
Command and charged it “to assist and
advise the Commander-in-Chief, Far
East, on matters pertaining to his
exercise of unified command over
Army, Navy, and Air Force forces,
allocated to the Far East Command.”2
The JSPOG comprised three Army,
three Navy, and two Air Force officers,
and it was frequently cited as evidence
that GHQ was a joint staff. But it was
apparent both from the statement of its
functions and from the small number of
its assigned personnel that the JISPOG
could not serve in lieu of a joint staff
contemplated by the JCS.2* By this
same type of logic the Assistant Chief
of Staff for Intelligence (G-2) of GHQ
Far East Command reorganized his
section on a “joint basis” in January
1948 by assigning to it “one suitably
qualified Air and Naval Intelligence
officer...to act as the Air and Naval
representatives and experts, for the
various publications of Theater Intelli-
gence.”?s At the highest headquarters
level, unification had never reached the
Far East; yet in 1949 General Mac-
Arthur had assured General J. Lawton
Collins that unification was “working
well” in his theater and that he stood
“squarely behind” the Department of
Defense's efforts to carry out the
unification act.26

In June 1950 the composition and
functioning of General Headquarters,
Far East Command clearly demon-
strated an absence of any vestige of
unification principles. In theory, the
major commands of the Far East
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Command were the Army Forces Far
East (AFFE), the Naval Forces Far
East (NavFE), and the Far East Air
Forces (FEAF), but General Mac-
Arthur had never organized an Army
Forces Far East headquarters. Instead,
AFFE was a shadow headquarters, in
which CINCFE personally commanded
and the GHQ Far East Command staff
doubled in brass as the theater-level
Army headquarters staff. The com-
manding general of each Army com-
mand reported directly to CINCFE.
Almost wholly manned by Army
personnel and predominantly con-
cerned with Army business, the GHQ
Far East Command was quite naturally
“dominated by Army thinking and
prone to honor Army concepts.”??
During World War II General Mac-
Arthur had never employed a joint
staff, but, observing that he had “found
that it takes an aviator to run
aviators,” he had left the details of air
matters to the control of his air com-
mander.28 As theater commander,
MacArthur had assigned FEAF tasks
to perform, but the FEAF commander
had determined how these tasks would
be executed. Much of this same philos-
ophy of control was obtained between
FEAF and its subordinate air forces.
General Stratemeyer assigned to his
subordinate air commanders tasks or
duties and the necessary wherewithal
to execute them, but he did not
normally tell these air commanders
how they were to execute their mis-
sions. In short, FEAF controlled and
supervised; the subordinate air forces
operated and executed their missions.
At the outset of hostilities in Korea,
however, many of MacArthur’s staff
subordinates manifested an inclination
to direct air operations from the theater
staff level. In fact, many of the men on
the GHQ staff wanted to run the
Korean war from Tokyo. As soon as
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radio communications were established,
Lt. Col. John McGinn, the air officer
on the ADCOM staff in Korea, re-
ceived “definite and explicit orders”
not to contact the Fifth Air Force
advance headquarters at Itazuke to
arrange for air support. He was
directed to address requests for air
support to GHQ in Tokyo, and the
requests had to be passed through
FEAF to the Fifth Air Force advanced
headquarters at Itazuke. “This was a
shameful way to operate,” said General
Timberlake, “because it normally took
us about four hours to get the mes-
sages.” Effective on 4 July, General
MacArthur established a new ground
command, U.S. Army Forces in Korea
(USAFIK) under Maj. Gen. William F
Dean, and General Dean was instructed
to communicate directly with the
commanders of FEAF and NavFE
(with information copies to CINCFE)
to secure the air and naval support
which he required. General Dean sent
several requests for air support directly
to FEAF in Tokyo, but this arrange-
ment was too roundabout to permit
adequate and timely air support.?

General Stratemeyer recognized that
Korea would have fallen to the onrush-
ing Communists if air units had not laid
on all-out attacks against the forward
prongs of the North Korean ground
penetrations, but he also knew that any
continued employment of air resources
in always “urgent” operations would
be extremely wasteful in a war of any
duration. Accordingly, during the first
week of July General Stratemeyer
began to organize his theater air forces
and assign them missions after the
patterns which World War II had
proved would make the best use of air
capabilities.

From the first days of the war the
Fifth Air Force had been supporting
friendly ground forces in Korea, but as
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Headquarters, Fifth Air Force. Pyongyang.

American ground troops went into
action there General Stratemeyer
sought to formalize the relationship. On
27 June the Fifth Air Force had
established an advance echelon at
Itazuke, and on 7 July General Strate-
meyer relieved General Partridge from
duty as acting—Vice Commander of
FEAF and sent him down to Itazuke to
resume active command of the Fifth
Air Force. That same day Stratemeyer
secured a new order from CINCFE
which directed USAFIK to call directly
upon Fifth Air Force advance head-
quarters for supporting air strikes.*
General Stratemeyer visualized that the
Fifth Air Force would continue to be
responsible for its former duties in
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Japan. In Korea it would perform
tactical air-force missions: it would
maintain air superiority, isolate the
battlefield, and provide close support
tor USAFIK and ROK troops.3!
Acting on his own initiative, General
Hoyt S. Vandenberg, the USAF Chief
of Staff, had secured approval on 3
July to move two medium bombard-
ment groups—the 22d and 92d—from
the Strategic Air Command’s Fifteenth
Air Force to temporary duty with
FEAE This diversion was a considera-
ble cost to the SAC’s strategic capabili-
ties, but General Vandenberg sent the
groups out primarily because of ““the
vital necessity of destruction of North
Korean objectives north of the 38th
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parallel.” “While I do not presume to
discuss specific targets,” he informed
General Stratemeyer, “it is axiomatic
that tactical operations on the battle-
field cannot be fully effective unless
there is a simultaneous interdiction and
destruction of sources behind the
battlefield.”32 A new command was
needed to control the strategic bomb-
ers, and General Stratemeyer, on 8 July
1950, organized the Far East Air
Forces Bomber Command
(Provisional), with headquarters at
Yokota Air Base. This command would
exercise operational control over the
SAC medium bomber groups and 31st
Strategic Reconnaissance Squadron and
FEAF’s own 19th Bombardment
Group. To serve as the strategic
bomber commander, General Vanden-
berg dispatched on indefinite temporary
duty Maj. Gen. Emmett (“Rosie”)
O’Donnell, Jr. An experienced bomber
officer, General O’Donnell had com-
manded a squadron of the 19th Bom-
bardment Group in the Philippines in
the early days of World War II. In the
last years of this war O’Donnell had
commanded the strategic air attacks of
the Marianas-based 73d Bombardment
Wing. Since 1948 he had commanded
SAC’s Fifteenth Air Force.” According
to General Stratemeyer’s concept, the
FEAF Bomber Command would
normally operate in the area froni the
Han River northward. Its main duties
would be to interdict the enemy’s lines
of communications from the Han to the
Manchurian border and to destroy such
North Korean industrial facilities as
contributed combat support to the
enemy forces. .
By 8 July General Stratemeyer had
effected the command organization
which would best employ theater air
capabilities. The time had arrived when
the control of air operations could be
placed in the field and divorced from
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FEAF and GHQ. Tactical air-support
operations in Korea simply could not
be managed from Tokyo. But General
MacArthur’s headquarters staff gave
General Stratemeyer little sympathy
and far too little understanding. On the
night of 9 July MacArthur’s chief of
staff, Maj. Gen. E. M. Almond, called
Brig. Gen. Jarred V. Crabb, the FEAF
director of operations, on the telephone.
So far, said Almond, all of FEAF’s
efforts against enemy armor and
mechanized elements had been ineffec-
tive. The Communist threat to General
Dean’s 24th Division was critical.
Almond stated bluntly that General
MacArthur wanted FEAF to direct all
of its combat capabilities continuously
and to the exclusion of other targets
at the hostile columns and armor threat-
ening the 24th Division. As General
Stratemeyer expressed it, Almond gave
Crabb quite a bit of “static.”3
Completely loyal to his commander
in chief, General Stratemeyer immedi-
ately committed the whole of FEAF’s
combat capability to the support of
General Dean’s forces. To General
Partridge went the message: “You must
consider your mission primarily direct
support of ground troops.” And
although he privately doubted the
wisdom of the action, Stratemeyer
made an eleventh-hour change in the
19th Bombardment Group’s assigned
targets. The medium bombers had been
ordered to attack bridge structures;
now they were directed to hit enemy
convoys, tanks, and troop concentra-
tions reported to be somewhere in the
vicinity of Chonan and Pyongtaek.
The close support rendered by the
19th Group’s medium bombers on 10
July proved to be more hindersome
than helpful. General Partridge tele-
phoned that the ten B-29's sent to
attack mechanized targets of opportu-
nity had been unable to contact his
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front-line tactical air-support parties.
Partridge euphemistically said that the
B-29’s bombing results were “un-
known.” He did know, however, that
the B-29’s had taken targets which he
had meant to assign to his own B-26’s,
which were best qualified for low-level
operations against enemy vehicles,
tanks, and troop columns. Conse-
quently, the B-26’s had been sent to
attack bridges, which could have best
been destroyed by the medium bomb-
ers. On 11 July eight B-29’s made
contact with the Fifth Air Force’s
tactical air-control center and got good
results against targets in the towns of
Wonju, Chinchon, and Pyongtaek.
General Partridge nevertheless reported
that he had more fighter-bombers than
he had targets. He suggested that the
medium bombers ought to be released
from close support so that they could
begin to attack targets deeper within
enemy territory.?’

“Unless you direct otherwise,”
General Stratemeyer told General
MacArthur on 10 July, “I will operate
every combat airplane in the Far East
Air Forces in support of ground troops
against those targets in battlefield
support as suggested by the Fifth Air
Force Advanced Headquarters in
conjunction with General Dean’s
Headquarters.” But General Strate-
meyer was gravely troubled on three
counts. MacArthur’s staff was telling
FEAF how to conduct its air opera-
tions, and the way these staffmen
wanted air operations conducted was
quite inefficient. Tactical air operations
could not be managed from Tokyo:
battlefield air support was a matter
which concerned General Partridge and
General Dean. And Stratemeyer
resented implications that FEAF had
not been doing a good job in Korea. On
the morning of 10 July Stratemeyer
wrote a memorandum which he person-
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ally carried to General MacArthur. In
his memorandum and in his discussion
Stratemeyer reminded MacArthur of
the great confidence which he had
placed upon Generals Kenney and
Whitehead. He, Stratemeyer, hoped to
merit a similar degree of confidence.
“Your directions to me,” Stratemeyer
told MacArthur, “will be conducted in
the most efficient manner that we can
plan, and 1 am sure that it is not your
intention to tell me how to do the job.”
General MacArthur replied that he had
the same confidence in Stratemeyer
that he had had in Generals Kenney
and Whitehead. He was personally
enthusiastic about FEAF’s accomplish-
ments in Korea. MacArthur also
emphasized that Stratemeyer was to
run his “show” as he saw fit, regard-
less of instructions from GHQ staff
members.3

After receiving this show of confi-
dence from the commander in chief,
General Stratemeyer signed and
dispatched formal mission letters to the
FEAF Bomber Command and Fifth Air
Force. On 11 July he directed Bomber
Command to handle deep interdiction
and strategic targets; on 12 July he
made the Fifth Air Force responsible
for tactical air operations in Korea.3»
By 14 July, however, the ground
situation in Korea was again reported
to be “critical.” Against almost impos-
sible odds General Dean’s ground
troops were battling to hold the key
communications center of Taejon.
General MacArthur said that the
extraordinary situation demanded
exceptional measures, and Stratemeyer
ordered the Fifth Air Force and
Bomber Command to apply their main
effort in the battle area “until the threat
to our front-line troops is eliminated. 4

During the first two weeks of July
General Stratemeyer had been seeking
solutions to another theater air-force
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problem: the coordination of land-based
and carrier-based air operations over
Korea. On the several occasions during
World War II when he had “borrowed”
fast carrier task forces from the Pacific
Fleet, General MacArthur had em-
ployed these carrier task forces against
targets lying beyond the range of
FEAF’s land-based bombers. Such
geographical coordination had worked
fairly well in the vast reaches of the
Southwest Pacific, but under such
arrangements the massed power of
land-based and carrier-based aviation
could not simultaneously be brought to
bear on significant targets.+ Moreover,
Korea was too small to permit geo-
graphical coordination. On 2 July,
preparatory to Task Force 77’s first air
strikes to be made on the following day,
Vice Adm. C. Turner Joy, Commander
NavFE, requested and received
“exclusive use” of a large airspace area
of northwestern Korea, encompassing
Pyongyang. Subsequently, at 2235
hours on 3 July, GHQ FEC informed
FEAF that this same target area would
again be allocated to Task Force 77 on
the following day.* Having had no
advance indication that the carrier air
strikes would continue for an additional
day, FEAF operations had scheduled a
medium bomber strike against Pyon-
gyang’s airfields for 4 July. As a result,
the scheduled B-29 strike for 4 July had
to be canceled, and, since it was too
late to devise a new mission, the
Superfortresses were grounded that
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day. The Navy air operations presented
another complication: Task Force 77
preserved radio silence while at sea,*
and for several days General Strate-
meyer was unable to get any knowl-
edge of the results of the carrier air
strikes against Pyongyang.+

Without some form of centralized
control the mass of Air Force and
Navy airpower could not be effectively
employed in the attack, and if Air
Force and Navy air commanders were
to choose their targets independently,
flying over Korea could become
hazardous. Learning that Marine
aircraft were also scheduled to come to
the Far East, General Stratemeyer
requested on 8 July that he be assigned
operational control over all naval land-
based and carrier-based aviation, when
operating from Japan or over Korea,
except those units used for the naval
tasks of aerial mining or antisubmarine
warfare. If he was to insure that carrier
air operations were to be coordinated
with the operations of the Fifth Air
Force and Bomber Command, Strate-
meyer had to be able to direct carrier
aircraft operations “including the
targets to be hit and the area in which
they must operate.”+

When this memorandum was re-
ported to be unacceptable to the Naval
Forces Far East, General Stratemeyer
drafted an amplification of his ideas on
10 July. He explained that he had no
desire to control Navy planes when
they engaged in authorized Navy air

*The inability of Navy forces in the Far East to communicate freely and fully with Army and Air Force
commands would long continue to be a major interservice problem. In large measure the difficulty was attributable to
the fact that the Navy had a different communications philosophy. Naval forces afloat were traditionally closely-knit
organizations which generally operated in accordance with prebriefed orders. Because of their physical characteris-
tics, moreover, naval vessels had only a limited amount of space which could be given to communications
equipment. Because of requirements and capabilities, the Navy made its electronics messages as brief as possible.
On the other hand, the Army and Air Force used more elaborate communications systems designed to handle a large
volume of traffic and habitually passed what the Navy called “correspondence” by electronic means. As a result of
the difference in philosophy and capability, Navy forces off Korea were unable to receive or dispatch the many long,
encrypted messages required by the local combat situation. (CINC U.S. Pacific Fleet, Interim Evaluation Rpt. No. 1,
Korean War, 25 June to 15 Nov. 1950, Vol. XIII, pp. R56 and R57.)
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tasks. He stated that he would not
attempt to control or to direct the
movements of Navy carriers. Once a
carrier force entered the area of
operations its assigned missions would
not be altered without the concurrence
of Admiral Joy. Stratemeyer further
stipulated that he construed operational
control to mean nothing more than “the
authority to designate the type of
mission, such as air defense, close
support of ground forces, etc., and to
specify the operational details such as
targets, times over targets, degree of
effort, etc., within the capabilities of
the forces involved.” In conclusion,
Stratemeyer pointed out that a “sizable
potential” of air forces was at Mac-
Arthur’s disposition, but he voiced the
fear that, without proper coordination,
the full effect of the air striking power
would be dissipated. Uncontrolled air
operations over Korea, moreover,
would endanger the safety of the
various participating air units.*

Navy headquarters in Tokyo appar-
ently did not like this second memoran-
dum any better than it had liked the
first proposal, and, seeking a workable
solution, General Stratemeyer and
Admiral Joy, with a few of their
subordinates, met on 11 July in General
Almond’s office at the Dai Ichi build-
ing. Here Admiral Joy and his staff
contended that the phrase ‘“‘operational
control” was so broad a definition that
the Navy could not accept it. To the
Navy, “operational control” meant that
its forces might be assigned to FEAF
on a continuous basis, and this might
be detrimental to the Seventh Fleet’s
mission in the Formosa area. Someone
finally suggested that FEAF could be
vested with a more intermittent author-
ity called “coordination control.”” This
term was acceptable to Admiral Joy,
and General Stratemeyer, on the spur
of the moment, thought that it would
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meet his requirements.* Following this
agreement, the Joint Strategic Plans
and Operations Group drafted a
directive which issued without further
coordination over General Almond’s
signature on 15 July. “When both Navy
Forces, Far East, and Far East Air
Forces are assigned missions in
Korea,” read this directive, “coordina-
tion control, a Commander in Chief,
Far East, prerogative, is delegated to
Commanding General, Far East Air
Forces.”+ Hardly was this directive
issued than Air Force officers discov-
ered that the magic formula of “‘coordi-
nation control” had no officially
assigned meaning. It meant one thing to
FEAF and quite another thing to
NavFE, and, although asked to give
some clarification, CINCFE never saw
fit to explain just what “‘coordination
control” did mean. Time itself would
give some meaning to the newly coined
phrase, but until it did so there would
be differences of opinion, misunder-
standings of channels of communica-
tions, and disagreements over the
wordings of important operations
orders.

Other language in the 15 July direc-
tive indicated that its promulgators
actually had not attached any great
significance to the “coordination
control” authority which was granted
to General Stratemeyer. Another
paragraph of the directive provided that
“Basic selection and priority of target
areas will be accomplished by the
General Headquarters target analysis
group with all services participating.”
On 14 July General Almond established
the GHQ Target Group as a part-time
duty for its members, who were: a
senior officer from the G-2 section,
serving as chairman; an Air Force
member and a Navy member from the
Joint Strategic Plans and Operations
Group, appointed by the chief of that
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agency; and a member of the G-3
operations group, appointed by the
G-3. These four officers, supported at
their request by NavFE and FEAF
consultants, were charged to: advise on
the employment of Navy and Air Force
offensive airpower in conformity with
the day-to-day situation; recommend
air targets or target areas; recommend
measures to insure coordinated use of
available airpower; and maintain a
continuing analysis of target systems
and priorities assigned. The Assistant
Chief of Staff, G-3, FEC was charged
to implement the target group’s recom-
mendations with CINCFE orders.

Since its charter of authority was
quite broad, the GHQ Target Group
attempted more exactly to define its
responsibilities at its initial meeting on
16 July. General Crabb attended this
meeting and was alarmed by what he
heard. One concept was that the target
group had authority to select targets
from the front lines deep into enemy
territory. Crabb stated bluntly that
FEAF could not accept such an idea as
this. He reminded the group that Lt.
Gen. Walton H. Walker had established
Headquarters, Eighth U.S. Army in
Korea (EUSAK) at Taegu on 13 July
and that General Partridge was in the
process of moving Advance Headquar-
ters, Fifth Air Force from Itazuke to
Taegu. Crabb asserted positively that
tactical air targets should be selected at
the tactical air force-field army level in
Taegu.#

The trend of events in Tokyo also
disturbed General Stratemeyer, so
much so that on 17 July he prepared a
letter defining the air-support proce-
dures which would be employed in
Korea. General Walker would make his
requests for support directly to General
Partridge, who would honor these
requirements within the capabilities of
his aircraft. General Partridge would
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forward such requests as were in
excess of his capabilities to Strate-
meyer, who would direct General
O’Donnell to accomplish them. Specific
details as to target identification, time
of attack, and control procedures
would be arranged directly between
General Partridge and General
O’Donnell.** The next day Stratemeyer
called on General MacArthur to discuss
the recommended procedures. Mac-
Arthur agreed in principle with Strate-
meyer’s letter, but he pointed out that
there was one gap in it—GHQ had
been “sidetracked.”s' MacArthur then
called Almond into his office and told
him how he wanted Stratemeyer’s letter
to be endorsed. This endorsement,
written that same day, approved the
proposed methods for accomplishing
the Eighth Army’s close support.
Furthermore, EUSAK’s requirements
for general air support (strikes against
rear-area targets beyond the range of
friendly artillery) were to be processed
in the same manner as close support.
These decisions, however, did not
prevent the issuance of CINCFE
directives to Stratemeyer for the
employment of medium bombers in
attacks against general air-support
targets or strategic targets. Such
directives would be based upon recom-
mendations submitted by the GHQ
Target Group. Until otherwise directed,
Stratemeyer was instructed to continue
to employ the majority of the medium
bomber effort in the area between the
bombline and the 38th parallel, the
purpose being to isolate the
battlefield.s

The GHQ Target Group retained its
authority to designate medium-bomber
targets and to establish target areas and
priorities of these areas for air attack.s?
On 19 July the GHQ Target Group
recommended its first list of 22 B-29
targets, nearly all of which were rail or
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road bridges around the periphery of
the battle area.’ Almost immediately
FEAF target experts noted that the
GHQ Target Group was not conversant
with problems of target selection. The
first batch of targets, for example,
required FEAF to destroy railway
bridges at Yongwol and Machari, but
there was no railway through these
towns. Subsequent target lists prepared
by the GHQ Target Group were no
more accurate. Out of a total of 220
targets designated by this group, some
20 percent of the objectives did not
exist. Later investigation showed what
had happened. A principal source of
error was the group’s use of an obso-
lete map of Korea, which included
railway lines that had been projected
but never built. In another case the
target group was guilty of faulty map
reading, for it designated a river
“bridge” which was marked as a ford
on the map consulted. Correct maps,
based on aerial photography, were
available to the target group in the G-2
Section. Many of the bridges which the
target group designated for air attack
were later seen to have spanned small
streams where a destroyed structure
could be easily by-passed, even in a
normally rainy Korean summer. A
USAF evaluation board later com-
mented: “The GHQ Target Group was
unfamiliar with the time-honored
Intelligence principle of confirming
reported information by checking
several sources.>

Despite the concentration of all of
FEAF’s air capabilities in the front-line
areas, General Dean’s forces were
unable to hold the key city of Taejon,
which fell to the Red Koreans on 20
July. On this same day Maj. Gen. Otto
P. Weyland arrived in Tokyo to assume
the duties of FEAF vice-commander
for operations. During World War 11
General Weyland had commanded the
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XIX Tactical Air Command which, in
cooperation with the U.S. Third Army,
had set new standards for joint-service
teamwork. His experience in tactical
air warfare permitted him to make a
penetrating diagnosis of FEAF’s
troubles. Basic to all of FEAF’s
problems was the fact that GHQ was
“essentially an Army staff.” Lacking
joint representation of air, naval, and
ground officers, the GHQ staff was
unable to accomplish the most efficient
and timely employment of airpower in
Korea.ss The GHQ Target Group did
not have sufficient experience or
stature to perform the important duties
which had been assigned to it. To give
him the advice he needed, General
MacArthur required a “senior target
committee” which would be composed
of officers of wide military experience.
Weyland was also critical of the GHQ-
ordered interdiction efforts, which were
seeking to disrupt enemy communica-
tions immediately behind the battleline.
This, he said, “was like trying to dam a
stream at the bottom of a waterfall.”s”
Recognizing the wisdom of
Weyland’s diagnosis, General Strate-
meyer on 21 July sent a memorandum
to General MacArthur which strongly
recommended the establishment of a
GHQ target selection committee, to be
comprised of such senior officers as
Maj. Gen. Doyle O. Hickey, Deputy
Chief of Staff of FEC, Maj. Gen. C. A.
Willoughby, Assistant Chief of Staff for
Intelligence of FEC, General Weyland,
and a NavFE representative to be
designated by Admiral Joy. This target
selection committee, said Stratemeyer,
should make all target recommenda-
tions to CINCFE, but the GHQ Target
Group and the FEAF Target Section
would do the groundwork for the
“senior” target committee.® At a
conference with Stratemeyer on 22 July
General MacArthur approved the
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creation of a FEC Target Selection
Committee, and he further agreed that
the first duty of the new committee
would be to devise a sound interdiction
program which would sever the flow of
reinforcements and supplies to the
Communist forces in South Korea.
Generals Hickey, Willoughby, and
Weyland were named-members of the
committee, and Admiral Joy was asked
to designate a Navy member.® Admiral
Joy, however, did not care to name a
member to the committee. He ex-
plained that the Seventh Fleet would
perform “hit-and-run” general and
close air-support strikes in Korea under
FEAF’s coordination control, but the
Seventh Fleet’s primary mission was to
defend Formosa. Any decision to
commit the Seventh Fleet’s air-striking
power to Korea was a matter which
had to be carefully considered in the
light of hostile threats to Formosa, and
Admiral Joy thought that General
MacArthur should make these
decisions personally.

Preparatory to the first meeting of
the FEC Target Selection Committee
General Weyland made a careful
analysis of currently ordered interdic-
tion operations. His study of the
CINCEFE targets designated by the
GHQ Target Group revealed several
deficiencies: all were too close to the
battle zone, they were too numerous to
be attacked by available B-29’s, and
many of the objectives were so “ob-
scure” that they could not be identified
by bombardiers, even under good
visual conditions. Weyland noted that
FEAF had skilled target officers, and
he suggested that FEAF be heavily
relied upon for target recommenda-
tions. He sent a memorandum setting
out these findings to the FEC G-3.s1

On 24 July, when the members of the
FEC Target Selection Committee met
in General Almond’s office for instruc-
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tions, Weyland found that his memo-
randum had stirred up a tempest.
General Almond stated that General
MacArthur had not approved an
interdiction program, that the B-29’s
had to be used in the immediate battle
area, that the Air Force had caused
trouble and was uncooperative, and,
finally, he asked whether or not General
Weyland understood his directives.
Here, as Weyland noted in his daily
journal, “the discussion became quite
warm.” Without recalling more of what
was said, it is sufficient to record that
General Weyland emphasized that the
FEC Target Selection Committee had
been established to work out the best
employment of airpower on a mutually
acceptable basis, a mission which
would be impossible if all decisions
were to be dictated to it from above.
General Almond thereupon agreed that
the target committee should study the
interdiction matter and come up with
recommendations.62

That evening the FEC Target Selec-
tion Committee met at the Dai Ichi
building and worked far into the night.
At first Generals Hickey and Wil-
loughby argued that all B-29’s were
needed in the battle area, where three
American divisions were opposing nine
North Korean divisions in a bitterly
fought ground battle. Weyland agreed
that the ground situation was critical,
but he urged that it had been critical
since the beginning of the hostilities.
The “critical” situation was becoming
the normal situation. The target
committee, Weyland said, had to
establish a comprehensive interdiction
program which would reach into the
Reds’ rear areas and ensure that their
nine divisions did not become twelve or
fifteen divisions. Weyland pointed out
that neither General Walker nor
General Partridge had asked for
Superfortress support. He thought that
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the field commanders in Korea ought to
be allowed to run their own show.
General Hickey yielded to these
arguments and suggested that two B-29
groups be put on interdiction and that
the third remain temporarily on close
support. General Willoughby then
suggested that the B-29 interdiction
program be centered north of the 38th
parallel. All agreed to these recommen-
dations, and the meeting broke up
harmoniously.®* On 26 July Generat
MacArthur approved the committee’s
recommendations and issued them as a
directive.*

The establishment and acceptance of
the FEC Target Selection Committee
marked the beginnings of workable
relationships for the control of theater
air forces in the Far East. Since the
committee did not attain a joint
stature—equally representative of
GHQ, FEAF, and NavFE—it was
actually not long lived, but during the
six weeks that it operated other
improvised mechanisms began to
control CINCFE'’s air forces. An
almost immediate result of the creation
of the FEC Target Selection Committee
was the demise of the GHQ Target
Group. Although General Stratemeyer
had thought that the GHQ Target
Group would continue to prepare and
recommend air targets to the FEC
Target Selection Committee, this
agency had so little capability for target
research that it went out of business
shortly after 2 August. The bulk of air
target identification and development
reverted to FEAF’s Target Committee,
which was composed of members of
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the Operations and Intelligence depu-
tates of the headquarters staff. Ulti-
mately expanded to include representa-
tives of the Fifth Air Force and FEAF
Bomber Command (and accordingly
redesignated), the FEAF Formal Target
Committee became in fact the basic
theater agency for target selection.
This committee selected major targets
for attack and laid out air campaigns
against target systems in accordance
with basic programs approved by
CINCFE and Commander, FEAES$s
Belatedly, at the end of July, impro-
vised procedures brought some order to
the fantastically confused command
situation in the Far East, but these
extempore arrangements never
achieved the full fruits of unification.
Certainly, at the outset of the Korean
war, the defective theater command
system prevented the fullest employ-
ment of airpower, delayed the begin-
ning of a comprehensive airinterdiction
program for more than a month, and,
as will be seen, caused confusion and
loss of effectiveness at the very time
that every single aircraft sortie was
vital to the survival of the Eighth Army
in Korea. Had he possessed a joint
headquarters staff, General MacArthur
might never have encountered these
mischievous problems. To General
Weyland, writing on 10 October 1950,
one conclusion was inescapable:
“Whenever combinations of Air Force,
Army, and Navy are in a joint com-
mand, it is essential that the Com-
mander-in-Chief have a joint staff with
proportionate representation of the
services involved. s
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3. General Stratemeyer Takes a Final Inventory

Not all of General Stratemeyer’s
problems were command problems, for
during July 1950 FEAF faced difficul-
ties in adapting its defensive capabili-
ties to tactical air war requirements in
Korea. “The troop basis which FEAF
had at the start of the Korean war,”
said General Stratemeyer, “was totally
inadequate for anything other than a
limited air defense of Japan, Okinawa,
and the Philippine Islands.” ¢

Altogether, on 25 June 1950, General
Stratemeyer controlled 30 USAF
squadrons, or the equivalent of nine of
USAF’s total of 48 combat wings. This
was the largest aggregation of USAF
units outside the continental limits of
the United States, but budgetary
limitations, taken in context with the
Far East Command’s defensive mis-
sion, had caused significant reductions
in FEAF strength. Earlier in fiscal year
1950, FEAF had lost a squadron of
light bombers and the 314th and 315th
Air Divisions, the latter being small
headquarters organizations which had
provided an intermediate control of the
air-defense effort in Japan. At this time
General MacArthur had protested that
the Air Force units assigned to the Far
East were so inadequate in number as
to reduce his capabilities to defend the
command area beyond the point of a
calculated risk—almost, indeed, to the
point of a “gambler’s risk.”

All but a few of the squadrons which
FEAF owned or controlled were
organized in basic Air Force wings.
According to concept, a combat wing
was a nearly self-sufficient entity in
which one wing commander directed
the combat effort, supporting elements,
base services, and medical services
necessary for the performance of his

mission. The resultant combat wing
was a large and complex organization,
but, in theory, it possessed mobility.
Tables of organization and equipment
contained provisions whereby support-
ing personnel and equipment might be
detached to accompany and support a
separate combat squadron. When a
whole wing was transferred, the
combat-wing plan visualized that a
temporary station or airbase group
would be organized to replace it at the
old installation. Because of the pres-
sure for personnel savings arising from
pre-1950 economy programs, however,
most of FEAF’s combat wings had
been compelled to assume an area-
command status that was inconsistent
with their combat mobility. Following
the inactivation of the two air division
headquarters in Japan, the air-defense
functions previously exercised by these
units had been subdivided into three
parts and delegated to the 49th Fighter-
Bomber Wing (Northern Air Defense
Area), the 35th Fighter-Interceptor
Wing (Central Air Defense Area), and
the 8th Fighter-Bomber Wing (Southern
Air Defense Area). The 19th Bombard-
ment Wing had become responsible for
managing all USAF activities in the
Marianas.®

The types and numbers of aircraft
which FEAF possessed clearly indi-
cated its defensive mission. On 31 May
1950 FEAF possessed a grand total of
1,172 aircraft of all descriptions,
including some in storage and a few in
salvage. Less than half of this total, or
553 aircraft, were possessed in
operational units: 365 F-80’s, 32 F-82’s,
26 B-26’s, 22 B-29’s, 25 RF-80’s, 6
RB-29s, 24 WB-29s, 26 C-54s, 23
SB-17’s, and 4 SB-29’s.7 FEAF’s most
numerous operational aircraft was the
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Lockheed “Shooting Star”” F-80C jet
interceptor. Most FEAF fighter wings
had received the latest model F-80’s
during 1949 and 1950, and in June 1950
only the 51st Fighter-Interceptor Group
(which had converted to F-80A’s and
F-80B’s during 1948) was not com-
pletely equipped with the latest model
Shooting Stars.”!

Although FEAF’s jet fighter wings
were up to the 90 percent of equipment
strength authorized for peacetime
operations, their recent conversion
from conventional F-51 Mustangs to
F-80C jets had brought a number of
problems, of which a few serious ones
remained to be solved. The employ-
ment of jet fighters in Japan compli-
cated a virtually static air-base
situation, for these aircraft required
longer and stronger runways than did
conventional aircraft. Since it seemed
not improbable that FEAF’s tenure of
Japanese bases would not outlast the
American occupation of Japan, the
USAF had not been eager to expend its
scarce funds for air installations which
would have to be abandoned.” General
MacArthur had ruled that no resources
from the Japanese economy would be
used for military construction unless it
was.essential for occupation purposes,
and, reasoning that jet aircraft were not
actually required for occupation duties,
he had disapproved FEAF’s request
that Japanese funds be used to build
jet-fighter facilities in Japan.” In July
1950 only four Japanese airfields had
the 7,000-foot runways which met the
operational requirements of combat-
loaded jet fighters.

The Shooting Star fighters were new
in the Far East, but they were the
oldest of USAF operational jets. They
had been designed as counterair
interceptors. As interceptors, their
primary weapons were six .50-caliber
machine guns. FEAF’s F-80’s also had
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mid-wing rocket posts, which permitted
them to carry up to 16 5-inch high
velocity aircraft rockets (HVAR’s), but
none of them were equipped with pylon
bomb racks. With its internal fuel, an
F-80C had a radius of action of approx-
imately 100 miles, but each plane was
provided with two 165-gallon external
fuel tanks which it carried on wing-tip
shackles. Loaded with rockets and two
165-gallon tip tanks, an F-80C had an
operational radius of approximately 225
miles. Instead of fuel tanks, the plane
could carry two 1,000-pound bombs on
its shackles, but its operational radius
in this configuration was the 100 miles
possible with internal fuel. All of these
ranges were not only quite short, but
they also assumed that the F-80 jet
would, for the most part, fly at the high
altitudes (above 15,000 feet) where it
attained its most favorable rate of fuel
consumption. Any length of time spent
at low altitudes, either en route to a
target or seeking an objective for
attack, rapidly exhausted an F-80’s fuel
and decreased its radius of flight.s

USAF planners were completely
aware of the operational limitations of
the F-80 aircraft, but these planes were
designed as short-range interceptors
and were not meant to be used for
ground attack. Specifically adapted for
air-ground operations was the Republic
F-84F “Thunderjet.” FEAF had been
scheduled to get some of these more
modern F-84’s beginning in 1949, but
because of the inadequate Japanese
airfields General Stratemeyer had been
compelled to ask, instead, for nothing
“hotter” than F-80C’s.7 But General
Partridge had not been content to let
the matter rest, for he maintained that
he had to get the longest range aero-
dynamically possible from his F-80’s.
He had therefore assigned the problem
to the 49th Fighter-Bomber Wing, and
at Misawa Lieutenants Edward R.
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An F-80 pilot prepares to take off in ankle deep water covering the landing strip

Johnston and Robert Eckman had
devised an improvisation. Two center
sections of a Fletcher tank could be
inserted in the middle of the standard
Lockheed tank, thus making a modified
tank which could hold 265 gailons of
fuel. These big “Misawa’™ tanks
provided enough fuel for an extra hour
of flight and increased the radius of
action of an F-80C to approximately
350 miles. depending on the type of
combat mission flown.”” The USAF Air
Materiel Command was unwilling to
approve the installation, since the 265-
gallon tanks stressed the wing tips and
shackles. but early in June 1950 FEAF
had established a project to manufac-
ture one pair of the long-range tanks
for every F-80 aircraft in the Far East
Command.™

In the several years prior to 1950
USAF budgetary ceilings had severely
pared flight training in FEAE Cross-
country trips in Japan had been
curtailed. and most navigational flights
were accomplished between two well-
known bases. where pilots could make
full use of radio aids and ranges. The
49th Fighter-Bomber Group later
reported that two hours™ dead-reckon-
ing practice each month would have

qualified its pilots for the hazardous
flving conditions they encountered over
Korea.™ Rocket training of FEAF
fighter pilots was severely limited by a
USAF policy which prohibited the
depletion of HVAR reserves. Some
practice was possible with subcaliber
aircraft rockets, but pilots, once in
combat, found the trajectory of the
HVAR to be entirely different from that
of the practice projectile. Since few
FEAF pilots had ever fired a 5-inch
HVAR. they would have to get their
rocketry training in the heat of
combat.#

Since its primary mission was air
defense, FEAF’s unit tactical training
had been principally concerned with
interception exercises and counterair
missions. While the Fifth Air Force had
met all Eighth Army requests for joint
air-ground training in full. such joint
maneuvers had been neither realistic
nor extensive.s! As of 26 June 1950 the
Eighth Army was just completing
battalion-level training. To expedite the
mutual phases of this training. the
Eighth Army and Fifth Air Force had
exchanged liaison officers, and 16 out
of 25 battalion tests conducted between
March and May had included close-
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support demonstrations under the
direction of tactical air-control parties
provided by the 620th Aircraft Control
and Warning Squadron. The provisional
air-control parties had obtained some
beneficial experience, but for the most
part these battalion demonstrations
were “‘canned” problems, conducted
over well-known ranges and lacking
realism to the airmen who flew them.
In many instances the lack of adequate
bombing and gunnery ranges conveni-
ent to Army posts in populous Japan
forced the aircrews to simulate their
supporting strikes.®? Recognizing the
limited value of battalion-level training.
General Partridge worked earnestly to
secure closer joint operations with the
Eighth Army. Following the failure of
communications in a joint theater-
command post exercise early in April
1950, Partridge specifically recom-
mended that a joint operations center
be established. with regularly assigned
Army, Navy, and Air Force representa-
tives. Unfortunately, this proposal was
not approved by the Far East
Command.#

The air units in FEAF lacked much
that they needed for peak effectiveness,
but all of them were able to operate on
the day that the war began. Such was
not true of the engineer aviation units
assigned to FEAF and this construc-
tion capability was a significant weak-
ness to offensive planning. Assigned to
FEAF were two engineer aviation
group headquarters and service compa-
nies, five engineer aviation battalions,
and one engineer aviation maintenance
company. Headquarters and Service
Company, 930th Engineer Aviation
Group. was assigned to the Fifth Air
Force. With station at Nagoya, this
group directed construction done by
civilian contractors in Japan. Assigned
to the Twentieth Air Force was the
Headquarters and Service Company.
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This truck is being loaded with a mixed
crushed rock compound used in runway
construction

931st Engineer Aviation Group. the
802d, 808th, 811th, 822d, and 839th
Engineer Aviation Battalions, and the
919th Engincer Aviation Maintenance
Company. All of these units except the
811th Battalion (which was stationed on
Guam) were engaged in construction
work on Okinawa.* All aviation
engineer troops were “Special Category
Army Personnel with Air Force”
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(SCARWAF) troops. They were
recruited, trained, and assigned to units
by the Department of Army, but they
were charged against Air Force
strength. All of these aviation engineer
units were in sad shape. Theater-work
assignments had not developed battal-
ion skills. Serving on Guam—where a
normal tour of duty was twelve
months—the 811th Battalion was
“totally untrained.” In the scheduled
construction projects on Okinawa, the
prime duty of the 822d Battalion had
been to operate a rock quarry. Most
engineer equipment was war-weary
from World War 11, and, for some more
obsolete items, spare parts were no
longer stocked. Engineer aviation skill
specialties had been marked by inade-
quate training and improper balances of
supervisory and operating personnel.

U.S. Air Force in Korea

Rapid rotation cycles had alternately
filled the battalions to excess, causing
serious administrative troubles, or
depleted the units so much that work
projects had to be curtailed. As of 30
June 1950 aviation engineer personnel
was on the ebb flow of the “boom or
bust” cycle. With a total war-strength
authority for 4,315 persons, FEAF
engineer organizations possessed only
2,322 officers and men. Viewed in the
light of their tables of organization and
equipment, engineer aviation battalions
possessed imposing capabilities to build
the facilities which Air Force units
required, but commanders of the
engineer battalions in the Far East
estimated their combat effectiveness to
be not more than 10 to 25 percent of
that expected from equivalent units
during World War I1.%

4. Air Planners Examine Korea's Geography and Climate

High on the list of factors to be
considered in any estimate of a combat
situation is an analysis of the area of
military operations. Human and natural
geography dictate the manner in which
ground forces will fight their battles.
Weather and climate are determinants
of air operations. Although the Air
Force had taken strides toward all-
weather capabilities, target and termi-
nal weather would continue to be a
major-operation consideration in
Korea. As early as 27 June FEAF air
planners were predicting that the
Korean peninsula was going to be an
inhospitable site for any sort of armed
conflict.®

The peninsula of Korea thrusts down

toward Japan, like an arm joined to the
shoulder of Asia. It is bounded on the
north by the winding Yalu and Tumen
rivers which separate it from Manchu-
ria and Siberia, on the east by the Sea
of Japan, on the south by the Korea
Strait, and on the west by the Yellow
Sea and Korea Bay. In shape, Korea
resembles Florida, and its area (85,000
square miles) approximates that of the
state of Minnesota. Korea’s greatest
length is about 575 miles. It is narrow-
est at a line projecting eastward from
the city of Sinanju: at this “neck of
Korea” the peninsula is about 95 miles
wide. South of Seoul the average width
of the peninsula is about 150 miles. On
the surface of the globe Korea is at the
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center of a triangle formed by China,
Russia, and Japan. The capital city of
Seoul, which is approximately midway
along the peninsula, lies 240 miles from
the tip of China’s Shantung peninsula,
340 miles from the Japanese island of
Kyushu, 730 miles from Tokyo, and
800 miles from Okinawa.®”

One of the first things that airmen
observed was that Korea was a land of
mountains and gorges, deep ravines
and narrow valleys, mud flats,
marshes, and rice paddies. In the north
jagged mountain peaks reach 9,000-foot
elevations. A wall of mountains—the
North and South Taebank ranges—rises
abruptly from the east coast and
reaches crests of 5,000 to 6,000 feet at
an average distance of ten miles inland.
Spurs from these mountains radiate to
the west and southwest and cover
nearly all of Korea. River systems are
patterned by the mountainous terrain.
Streams of any size flow west or
southwest from the western slopes of
the main east-coast ranges. From north
to south these major rivers are: the
Yalu, which separates Korea from
Manchuria; the Chongchon, which
debounches into the Korea Bay near
Sinanju; the Han, on which Seoul is
located; the Kum, north of Taejon; and
the wandering Naktong, which flows
west and south around the town of
Taegu and then east to empty into the
Korea Strait near Pusan. From the air
the gray-green ridges and valleys of
Korea are so little distinguished from
each other as to make target identifica-
tion extremely difficult.

The topography of Korea, its age-old
ties with China, and the Japanese
occupation, all gave precedence to the
development of Korea’s west coast
communications lines. The few good
highways follow the axis Pusan-Taegu-
Seoul-Kaesong-Pyongyang-Sinuiju.
Aside from corridor routes from Seoul
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and Pyongyang to the Wonsan-Hung-
nam area on the eastern coast, Korea’s
lateral communications are, for the
most part, little better than mountain
trails. The backbone of Korea’s over-
land transportation system was its
railroads—some 3,500 miles of stand-
ard-gauge lines which had been built by
the Japanese. A main rail line origi-
nates at Pusan and runs northward
through Taegu, Taejon, Seoul, and
Pyongyang to cross the Yalu at Sinuiju.
Lateral spurs leave this main line at
Chonan and Taejon for the southwest
coast and then circle back eastward
along the south coast at Pusan. Two
other rail lines run diagonally across
Korea from Seoul and Pyongyang to
Wonsan and Hungnam. On the eastern
coast a rail line from the Vladivostok
area in Siberia crosses the Tumen River
and follows the narrow coastal flats to
a point southwest of Samchok, where it
terminates. The railways were well
constructed. Their substructures were
heavily ballasted and most bridges were
of modern construction. Both railways
and roads followed the courses of
rivers and valleys: the road commonly
topped the ridges, but the railroads
tunneled through them. These tunnels
promised refuge to trains and vehicles,
and the surrounding hills and moun-
tains would provide excellent platforms
for gun and warning positions. Any
cross-country movement would be
difficult because of the prevailing rice
culture, especially on the western
slopes, where paddies lay next to the
communications routes and were
terraced as high as 5,000 feet up the
mountains.

Neither North nor South Korea had
many good seaports. Pusan, at the
southeast tip of the peninsula, is the
best port in the country. The west coast
has extensive mud flats and extremely
high tides. Inchon, the port for Seoul,
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Ground Control Approach Units like this one track aircraft and assist pilots making instrument
landings in bad weather.
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has a 27-foot tide, and its basic capac-
ity depended upon a tidal basin which
could serve only small vessels. Second-
ary west-coast ports—Kunsan, Yosu,
Mokpo, and Chinnampo—had been
developed primarily to serve fishing
and agricultural interests. The ports at
Wonsan and Hungnam, on the north-
eastern coast, held significance for
supporting military operations in the
hinterland of these two cities.

In South Korea the Japanese had
built more than ten military airfields,
but the South Koreans, having only a
token air force, had kept few of these
fields in use. Kimpo and Suwon were
the only airfields suited for high-
performance aircraft. Kimpo had been
improved during the American occupa-
tion and was the most modern airfield
in Korea. Suwon had a 4,900-foot
concrete runway and adjacent air
facilities. The next best airfield in
South Korea was at Pusan: this air-
field’s runway was 4,930 feet long, but
it was built of a concrete wash on four
inches of rubble. On the eastern coast
of Korea, near the fishing village of
Pohang, was a 5,000-foot runway
similar to that at Pohang. Here the
surrounding areas were better drained,
and satisfactory for building taxiways
and additional facilities, but the strip
could not be significantly lengthened
because of declines at each end. At
Taegu the ROKAF had been making
some use of a 3,800-foot clay-and-
gravel runway and a few other facili-
ties. In addition to these airfields there
were short sod strips at Sachon,
Taejon, Pyongtaek, Kwangju, Kunsan,
and Chinhae.® The existing airfields in
southern Korea generally occupied the
most acceptable sites, but none of them
could meet American criteria, even for
limited air operations.

Existing maps and charts which
revealed the topographic features and
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human improvements of Korea were-
more accurate than those which are
available for many parts of the world.
Most Korean maps were based upon
the Japanese Imperial Land Survey,
which had established an abnormally
dense geodetic control upon the
peninsula. Aerial maps and charts for
South Korea were based upon aerial-
mapping photography and were for the
most part accurate. North of the 38th
parallel, however, little aerial mapping
had been possible before June 1950,
with the result that the ground maps
and aeronautical charts covering North
Korea were often inaccurate. Site
errors of up to 500 feet were common,
errors of up to 1,000 feet were not
uncommon, and one instance was
found where a map feature was one-
half mile off from its actual geodetic
location.® Serious enough to pose a
problem from the first days of opera-
tions was a confusing similarity in
Korean place names. Pyongyang, for
example, was the capital of North
Korea; Pyonggang was the site of an
advanced enemy airfield just north of
the 38th parallel; Pyongyong was a
town of no especial importance on the
railway north of Pusan. Alternate place
names appeared on different maps. The
airfield on the southeastern coast of
Korea was variously called Geijitsu
Bay, Yongil-wan, Pohang-dong,
Pohang-wan, or Pohang. FEAF soon
had to demand that all names of towns
and villages be accompanied by
identifying geographical coordinates,
and early in July it would assign a “K-
site” number to each airfield in Korea
for purposes of exact identification.»
While the importance of weather to
military operations had been theoreti-
cally reduced as American armed
forces had increased their all-weather
potentials, climatology and weather
remained major factors in planning air
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operations over Korea. Lying in the
same latitudes as the castern scaboard
of the United States between upper
New York and North Carolina, Korea
has a climate that is generally hot and
humid in the summer and cold and
fairly dry in the winter. Summer is the
season of heavy rains. In July most of
the country receives tfrom cight to ten
inches of rain. and the southern
hightands sometimes get more than
sixteen inches. Summer cloud cover is
gencrally heavy, and fogs and haze
further reduce visibility, particularly in
the forenoons. Winter temperatures in
Korea are more extreme than those of
the castern seaboard of the United
States. They range below zero degrees
almost every night in the northern
interior and between thirty and forty-
five degrees during the day in southern
coastal arcas. There are strong upper
winds at this season, but the predomi-
nantly dry air of the winter makes it
the most favorable period for air
operations.”!

The prevailing flow of weather over
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Korea is from the northwest, a factor
which would complicate any forecast-
ing of weather with the degree of
accuracy which i1s needed by aerial
operations. During the Korean hostili-
tics Russian weather stations would
continue to broadcast international
meteorological observations, and from
these periodic radio broadcasts FEAF
weathermen could mark weather trends
as they originated in central Siberia.
The Chinese Communists. however,
provided no weather data. and, as a
result, weather fronts could not be
mapped during the several days when
they moved across North China and
Manchuria. Even under the best of
conditions, forecasting weather for
mountainous Korea. which is sur-
rounded by several thousand square
miles of warm ocean currents, would
have been a difficult problem. From the
beginning of the war FEAF planners
recognized that weather predictions for
the battle area would not be completely
accurate.”?

An F-51 of the South African Air Force taxis out for a mission despite the weather
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5. Balancing FEAF Requirements Against USAF Capabilities

At the end of June 1950, as FEAF
shifted its existing units from a defen-
sive to an offensive deployment,
General Stratemeyer’s purpose was to
bring as much of his force to bear
against the North Korean aggressors as
was consistent with the requirement
that he continue to maintain the air
defenses of the Far East Command.
General Stratemeyer and his staff
sought the answers to three thorny
questions: What air defenses would
FEAF continue to maintain? Where
would the air striking force be based?
The third question would need answer-
ing both in Tokyo and Washington:
What kind of striking force could the
USAF support in the Far East without
jeopardizing its world-wide
commitments?

“The Far East Air Forces in Japan,”
Stratemeyer told General Vandenberg
on 29 June, “are operating on instruc-
tions which require that we continue to
be prepared to insure the air defense of
the Japanese home islands against
hostile air attack.”s The headquarters
of the three fighter wings in Japan were
so inextricably a part of the air-defense
structure that they would have to
remain where they were, but some part
of their tactical units could be released
for the Korean war. Assuming that
Soviet Russia would not openly
intervene in Korea, General Strate-
meyer’s operational planners told him
that the air-defense forces at Misawa,
Johnson, and Itazuke could be reduced
to minimums of one F-80 squadron,
plus a flight of F-82 fighters.* General
Stratemeyer was apprehensive about
denuding the defenses of the Kanto
Plains of central Japan, where so many
vital American installations were
concentrated, but he approved this

allocation of defensive units, with the
proviso that another squadron of F-80’s
and more F-82’s would be returned to
Johnson Air Base as soon as possible.®
Looking farther afield in the first days
of the war, General Partridge recom-
mended that the fighter wings on
Okinawa and the Philippines should be
deployed to Japan. At such an early
date GHQ would permit the movement
of only one fighter squadron, this from
the 18th Fighter-Bomber Wing in the
Philippines.’ On 13 July General
Stratemeyer obtained permission to
move the 18th Group and another one
of its squadrons to Japan.

Having ascertained the minimum air-
defense forces which would remain in
place, FEAF operational planners
sought airfields suited to the deploy-
ment of the air striking force. Whatever
glimmer of hope there was that jet
fighters could be based in Korea was
extinguished as heavily loaded trans-

- port planes tore up the lightly surfaced

runway at Pusan. Now it was clear that
all of the jets would have to be based
on Kyushu, at Itazuke, and Ashiya.
The 49th Fighter-Bomber Group (less
its 7th Squadron) moved from Misawa
to join the 8th Fighter-Bomber Wing at
Itazuke. But before the 35th Fighter-
Interceptor Group could go to Ashiya
some disposition had to be made of the
3d Bombardment Group’s B-26’s which
were already there. FEAF planners
cast covetous glances at Iwakuni Air
Base, but Great Britain had not yet
announced whether Commonwealth
forces would support South Korea. In
Washington on 29 June, however, the
Australian ambassador made the RAAF
No. 77 Squadron (with 26 Mustangs)
available to FEAFE and thus cleared the
way for the desired deployment of the
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3d Bombardment Group to Iwakuni.»
The 35th Fighter-Interceptor Group
(less its 41st Squadron, which went to
Johnson for air defense) moved from
Yokota to Ashiva without delay. The
all-weather fighter squadrons were
shifted according to plan. The 339th
Squadron moved from Yokota to
Misawa and Johnson, the 68th Squad-
ron remained at Itazuke, and on 8 July
the pilots of the 4th Squadron returned
to Naha Air Base on Okinawa.”

The officers who were planning
FEAF's war deployment meant (o use
every F-80C jet fighter which could be
spared from defensive purposes, but
they also recognized that the Fifth Air
Force would need to employ every
conventional F-51 Mustang it could
secure. Everyone seemed to like the
way the jet fighters werc performing.
but the planners recognized that the
Mustangs had a longer range and could
operate from shorter and rougher
airfields. General MacArthur had given
ten Mustangs to the Republic of Korea,
and a detachment of the 36th Fighter-
Bomber Squadron was training ROK
pilots at Itazuke. Thirty morc Mustangs
were being withdrawn from theater
storage and prepared for combat, and
the FEAF planners recommended that
these Mustangs be used to equip a
provisional fighter squadron, which
could operate from Iwakuni until such
time as accommodations were prepared
in Korea.'w General Stratemeyer
approved this plan. On 3 July he
directed the Thirteenth Air Force to
form such a squadron from the most
apt personnel of the 18th Group and to
send the squadron—which would be
called " Dallas™—to Johnson Air Basc
for equipment with Mustangs.'!

Having made the plans to employ the
forces he had available, General
Stratemeyer sent his first requirements
to USAF on 30 June. One message
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Korean mechanics work on the engine of an
RCK F-51

asked for enough personnel in specified
categories to bring all assigned units up
to war strength (one and one-half times
peace strength).! A sccond message
requested 164 F-80's, 21 F-82's. 22
B-26s, 23 B-29s, 21 C-54's, 64 F-51's,
and 15 C-47s. Most of these planes
were nceded to round out squadrons to
their war strength and provide a 10
percent reserve for combat attrition.
The C-47's would haul cargo into
smaller Korean airfields. Added to
those FEAF already had, the Mustangs
would be used to equip a provisional
Mustang group. General Stratcmeyer
explained that both F-51"s and F-82's
were exceptionally well suited for the
long-range. low-level missions required
in Korea.' On | July Gencral Strate-
meyer dispatched another requircments
message to Washington. This time he
asked for air units, some for service in
Korea and some for air defense.
Wanted were: one medium bombard-
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ment wing, two Mustang wings, two
F-82 all-weather squadrons, one troop
carrier wing, three F-80C squadrons to
augment the Japan-based fighter wings,
a B-26 wing, two B-26 squadrons to fill
out the 3d Bombardment Wing, an
RF-51 reconnaissance squadron, an
RB-26 night photographic squadron,
and a tactical air-control squadron.'* In
a separate message to the Joint Chiefs
of Staff General MacArthur endorsed
Stratemeyer’s requirements messages
and urged that they receive immediate
action.10s

Back in Washington the USAF Chief
of Staff, General Hoyt S. Vandenberg,
had the utmost sympathy for Strate-
meyer’s requirements. Better than any
other man, Vandenberg knew the needs
of a tactical air war, for in World War
Il he had commanded the Ninth Air
Force in Europe. Vandenberg’s oral
instructions left no doubt that he
wanted FEAF to be given the strongest
possible support. “We want,” he said,
“to...insure the position of the USAF
in this job that is being done over
there, be sure that it is being done with
the very best equipment in the shortest
time. When the request comes in, that
request must be fully met.”’ 19 Unfortu-
nately, however, the USAF in 1950 was
what General Vandenberg would later
describe as *‘a shoestring Air Force.” 107
The semi-annual report of the Secre-
tary of Air Force, published in April
1950, spoke of the “completion of the
downward readjustment to 48 groups.”
Personnel slashes in late 1949 and early
1950 brought Air Force strength down
to 411,277 officers and men on 30 June
1950—Iless than 18 percent of the peak
wartime strength of 2,411,294 officers
and men.' In July 1950 the USAF had
a total inventory of less than 2,500 jet
aircraft of all types.10s

With a few important exceptions,
USAF would have to support the initial
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year of Korean hostilities from stored
stocks of equipment left over from
World War II. On 3 July General
Vandenberg secured approval from the
Joint Chiefs of Staff to move the 22d
and 92d Bombardment Groups (Me-
dium) from the United States to the Far
East. This more than met FEAF’s
request for an additional B-29 group.
But other divergencies between
FEAF’s requirements and USAF’s
capabilities were so wide that General
Vandenberg dispatched a team of
officers, headed by Lt. Gen. K. B.
Wolfe, USAF’s Deputy Chief of Staff
for Materiel, to the Far East. The
Wolfe party reached Tokyo late on the
evening of 4 July and began work the
next day. One of the duties of the
Operations representative on the team,
Maj. Gen. Frank FE Everest, was to
explain why FEAF could not get the
F-80C jet fighters it had requested.
Most of these F-80C’s just did not
exist. Some 325 F-80A’s and F-80B’s
could be modernized, but only
slowly—at a rate of 27 a month.
General Everest also explained why
USAF could not supply any more F-82
all-weather fighters. USAF possessed
only 168 of these planes, most of them
already assigned to units in Alaska and
the Pacific Northwest. Moreover, if the
Fifth Air Force continued to use the F-
82’s that it had in combat over Korea,
USAF would not be able to provide
supply support for these planes for
more than sixty days. Having dealt
with its limitations, General Everest
next discussed USAF’s capabilities. It
had *‘a considerable backlog™ of F-51
Mustangs—764 assigned to Air Na-
tional Guard units and 794 in storage.
At that moment 145 F-51’s were being
recalled from the Air National Guard,
and these planes, with accompanying
pilots and mechanics, would be shipped
aboard the aircraft carrier Boxer as
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soon as that vessel could be readied for
the voyage.!"v

After visiting several Fifth Air Force
bases the Wolfe party returned to
Tokyo for a final meeting with the
FEAF staft on 7 July. At this confer-
ence FEAF agreed to convert six of its
F-80 squadrons to F-51 aircraft, and it
also promised to withdraw the F-82 all-
weather fighters from combat. FEAF
recognized that it would not get the
F-51, F-82, and F-80 units it had
requested. Everyonc agreed that the
two Strategic Air Command groups
more than met the B-29 requirements.
Back in the United States more B-29's
would be processed out of storage, but
for the time being the 19th Group
would remain under strength. Enough
RF-80s would be provided to keep the
8th Tactical Reconnaissance Squadron
at war strength, and FEAF therctore
withdrew its request for an RF-51
squadron. Detailed discussions of air-
transport requirements led to a mu-
tually agreeable solution whereby
FEAF would re-form the 374th Troop
Carrier Group with two squadrons of
C-54 aircraft and one¢ squadron of C-47
planes. If Army airborne units were
sent to the Far East, FEAF would be
further augmented with temporary-duty
troop carrier units from the United
States.

The Tokyo conferees agreed that
FEAF had a legitimate need for an
additional light bombardment wing plus
two light bombardment squadrons, but
this requirement could not be satisfied
from active resources. Such units
would have to be called into active
service from the Air Reserve. The
request for a tactical air-control squad-
ron would be difficult to meet. The
USAF had only one tactical control
group (the 502d) at Pope Air Force
Base, North Carolina. FEAF initially
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agreed that the Fifth Air Force would
satisfy its needs with a provisional air-
control squadron which it was organiz-
ing from its own resources.''' Although
the USAF party was able to enlighten
FEAF officers as to the thinking in
Washington., it was actually able to give
the FEAF staft little exact guidance
concerning the air units which it might
expect to receive as reinforcements.
Throughout the month of July the
Joint Chiefs of Staff reviewed service
plans for the movement of units to the
Far East. Not a week of fighting had
passed before General MacArthur was
sending in requests for additional
troops which would, at the proper
moment, make an amphibious landing
behind the North Korean army. Among
the troops he wanted was the Army’s
187th Airborne Regimental Combat
Team, and. in order to mount an
airborne operation, FEAF would
require additional troop-carrier effort.
With JCS approval, USAF alerted the
314th Troop Carrier Group for a stint of
temporary duty in the Far East.

Photo interpreters check the thousands of
reconnaissance contact prints taken by an RB-29
only twelve hours earlier.



Plans, Preparations

General MacArthur requested a Marine
division and a Marine air wing. Not all
of these Marines could be had at once.
but the Navy undertook to dispatch a
st Provisional Marine Brigade to the
Far East. This brigade would be
accompanied by elements of the [st
Marine Air Wing.""> At its meeting on 7
July the Joint Chiefs approved USAF’s
projected deployment of air units. The
162d Tactical Reconnaissance Squad-
ron, Night Photo, and the Ist Shoran
Beacon Unit were put on orders to
move from Langley Air Force Base.
Virginia. Committed for eventual
movement to FEAF were the 437th
Troop Carrier Wing and the 452d
Bombardment Wing (Light). Both of
these wings were Air Force Rescrve
organizations which would be recalled
to active duty and given sixty-day
refresher training before they would be
ready for the trip overseas.'?

As the war developed in Korea
FEAF found need for several other
organizations. To handle the Fifth Air
Force's expanding photographic

Preliminary Bomb Damage Assessments are
phoned in from these still-wet “quickies.”
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reconnaissance capability, FEAF
requested a reconnaissance technical
squadron, and on 19 July USAF issued
orders for the 363d Reconnaissance
Technical Squadron to proceed from
Langley Air Force Base to Itazuke. '
By 18 July General Partridge saw that
the Fifth Air Force could not perform
its mission in Korea if it depended
upon improvised communications and
control facilities. He requested USAIX
to send to the theater the 502d Tactical
Control Group, the 2d Radio Relay
Squadron, the 934th Signal Battalion,
Separate. and three electronics bomb-
ing director detachments of the 3903d
Radar Bomb Scoring Squadron. USAF
approved this request on 28 July.'s The
last FEAF-augmentation project of the
period originated not in the theater but
in Washington, where the Joint Chiefs
were disturbed over the fact that the
three B-29 groups already in the theater
had been allowed too little time for
strategic bombing deep in North
Korea. On 29 July the Joint Chiets
proposed to send two additional B-29
groups for 30-day temporary duty in
the Far East. provided they would be
used for strategic bombing. That same
day the Strategic Air Command alerted
the Fifteenth Air Force’s 98th Bom-
bardment Group (M) and the Second
Air Force's 307th Bombardment Group
(M). General MacArthur found the
proposal “highly desirable.”™ and on |
August the two medium bomber groups
got their movement orders. o

During July and August the USAF
drew upon its regular and reservist
manpower resources to meet FEAF'S
requirements for Air Force personnel.
By | September 1950 FEAF had an
authorized strength of 46,233 officers
and men and possessed 45,991 as-
signed. This was a substantial increase
in personncl strength from the strength
of 39,975 authorized and 33,625 as-
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signed total personnel which FEAF had
possessed on 30 June.!'” Much of this
increased strength was in the new
tactical units which reinforced FEAE,
but FEAF also received combat crew
personnel to bring its tactical units up
to wartime strength and augmentation
authorizations which permitted it to
increase the manning of its headquar-
ters staffs and to activate a number of
table-of-distribution air-base organiza-
tions. Recognizing Stratemeyer’s need
for the best knowledge of the Air
Force, General Vandenberg offered
many of his most experienced officers
for service in the Far East.

But in spite of persevering efforts to
do so, USAF was not able on short
notice to supply all of the specialized
categories of Air Force personnel
which were requested. Navigators and
bombardiers remained in such short
supply in the 3d Bombardment Group
that these officers in July flew three
times as many missions as other rated
personnel. Not until September would
the group receive a full complement of
reservist bombardiers and navigators,
men who would need refresher training.
Most of FEAF’s units continued to be
alarmingly short of specialists in
aircraft accessories, ordnance, and
communications.!'8 Some of these
personnel shortages were attributable
to the fact that the USAF in the years
between wars, had lost many of its
trained technicians to the lure of the
higher wages paid by private industry.
Other deficiencies were attributable to
faults in personnel planning. A serious
shortage in the category of intelligence
specialists known as photographic
interpreters posed a problem which
USAF would not be able to solve for
more than a year. Most USAF photo
interpreters had left the service at the
end of World War 11, and, because the
jobs lacked rank, few regular officers
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had selected the field as a military
career. No reservist photographic
interpretation unit had been created to
provide a reservoir of trained Air
Reserve officers for a war emergency.!®
Each of these personnel deficiencies in
some measure reduced FEAF’s effec-
tiveness or added to the cost of its
operations.

Critical from the beginning of the
Korean war, the status of SCARWAF
engineer aviation troops admitted of no
ready solution. On 5 July General
Stratemeyer “earnestly solicited”
General Vandenberg’s personal assist-
ance to get the FEAF aviation engineer
units up to authorized strength with
proper personnel specialties. On 14
July, when General Vandenberg was in
Tokyo, General Stratemeyer explained
the full import of the aviation-engineer
problem to him: “If we had aviation-
engineer units even at nearly full
strength with proper specification serial
numbers,” Stratemeyer said, “the
operations from Korea would have
been initiated from Taegu and Pusan
last Friday [7 July].” 120 In Washington
USAF authorities begged the Depart-
ment of Army for assistance. In
immediate actions, FEAF was author-
ized to retain any SCARWAF people
who were slated to rotate to the United
States, and some 870 specialists began
to move by air to Japan on 14 July.12!
On 26 July, however, FEAF requested
1,237 engineer replacements, a number
which would bring its units up to
strength and provide a surplus of men
who could relieve misfits and deserving
individuals who were ready for rota-
tion. USAF was unable to comply with
this request, stating in justification that
the Army could not bring FEAF’s
aviation-engineer units up to war
strength without depleting its cadre
sources which it needed to activate
new units.!22 General Stratemeyer
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nevertheless insisted that his engineers
required full strength as an absolute
minimum and recommended that
airmen with requisite qualifications be
dispatched if SCARWAF troops could
not be made available. Indeed, General
Stratemeyer suggested that aviation-
engineer units and all responsibilities
pertaining to them should be trans-
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ferred to the Air Force.i2s Finally, on 12
September 1950, FEAF was permitted
to reorganize its aviation-engineer units
in accordance with new, increased-
strength tables of organization and
equipment,' but the deficiencies of
SCARWATF engineer aviation troops
would remain a vexing problem
throughout most of the Korean war,

6. Trans-Pacific Movements Test Air Force Mobility

Asked his formula for winning
battles, Confederate General Nathan B.
Forrest replied: “Get there first with
the most men.” Recognizing that this
axiom of the American Civil War was a
vital truth in an era of global nuclear
war, the United States Air Force had
made determined efforts to instill the
need for mobility into all of its tactical
units. The story of the trans-Pacific
movement of the organizations which
were ordered to FEAF’s support now
provided examples of air mobility at its
best and at its worst.

On 13 July 1950, nine days after
receiving word 8,000 miles away in the
United States that the medium bombers
were to move to the Far East, General
O’Donnell sent the 22d and 92d Bom-
bardment Groups on a combat mission
to Wonsan, an achievement which
demonstrated the mobility and striking
power of the Strategic Air Command.
To General Vandenberg this accom-
plishment indicated a “high degree of
esprit, mobility, and technical compe-
tence.”'> Profiting from mistakes made
in this initial deployment, the 98th and
307th Bombardment Groups got to
combat even faster. The 98th flew its
first combat mission from Yokota Air

Base on 7 August, five days after it had
departed the United States, and the
307th launched its first combat strike
from Kadena Air. Base on 8 August,
exactly one week after its planes had
left its home base in Florida, !

The swiftness of the medium bomber
deployment to combat was possible
only because of well-established
Strategic Air Command mobility plans
which had been designed for just such
an emergency. In conjunction with the
execution of its primary mission, the
Strategic Air Command held the
responsibility of maintaining air force
units in readiness “for employment
against objectives of air attack in any
location on the globe.” All units
assigned to the Strategic Air Command
were required to be “highly mobile
organizations, capable of being dis-
patched without delay, to distant
bases.” Command letters, directives,
and manuals gave, in complete detail,
the various requirements for executing
the mobility plan. Emphasis had been
placed upon the equipment of all units
for thirty days’ operations with a
minimum amount of support from
operating bases. Flyaway kits con-
tained spare parts and served as a kind
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of airborne base supply. Bomb-bay bins
carried other essential supplies. Each
wing commander maintained a reserve
of spare engines, engine quick-change
packups, and power packups. The wing
mobility plans and preparations had
been tested in overseas movements.
The 22d and 92d Groups had been in
the Far East and the United Kingdom;
the 98th Group had been in the Far
East, the United Kingdom, and at
Goose Bay; and the 307th Group had
served temporary duty in the United
Kingdom and Germany.'?’

The warning alert, followed by
appropriate operations orders, went out
to the 22d and 92d Groups on or soon
after | July. Officers and airmen who
had been planning Fourth of July
holidays found themselves packing
crates, loading cargo planes, or stand-
ing in line before the boarding ramps of
planes bound for the Far East. After
hurried hours of packing and prepara-
tion, the deployment airli